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SECURI TI ES AND EXCHANGE COMM SSI ON
VASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

ANNUAL REPCRT

PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE
SECURI TI ES EXCHANGE ACT CF 1934

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

1-2360
(Commi ssion File Nunber)

| NTERNATI ONAL BUSI NESS MACH NES CORPCRATI ON
(Exact name of registrant as specified inits charter)

<Tabl e>
<S> <C
NEW YORK 13-0871985
(State of incorporation) (RS enployer identification
nunber)
ARMONK, NEW YORK 10504
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
</ Tabl e>

914-499-1900
(Registrant’s tel ephone nunber)

SECURI TI ES REG STERED PURSUANT TO SECTI ON 12(B) OF THE ACT:

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
VOTI NG SHARES QUTSTANDING ~ NAME OF EACH EXCHANGE
TITLE OF EACH CLASS AT MARCH 1, 2000 ON VH CH REG STERED
<S> <C <C
Capital stock, par value $.20 per share 1,793,760, 770 New York Stock Exchange
Chi cago Stock Exchange
Paci fic Stock Exchange
Depositary shares each representing one-fourth of a New York Stock Exchange

share of 7 1/2%preferred stock, par value $.01 per share

6. 375% Not es due 2000 New York Stock Exchange

7.25% Not es due 2002

6. 45% Not es due 2007

5.375% Not es due 2009

7.50% Debent ures due 2013
8. 375% Debent ures due 2019
7.00% Debent ures due 2025
6. 22% Debentures due 2027
6. 50% Debent ures due 2028
7.00% Debent ures due 2045
7. 125% Debent ures due 2096

New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange
New York Stock Exchange

</ Tabl e>

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports
required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes /X No/ /

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item
405 of Regulation S-Kis not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the
best of registrant’s know edge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part Il of this Form10-K or any anendment to this
Form10-K /X

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the
registrant at March 1, 2000 was $179.8 hillion.

Docunent s incorporated by reference:

Portions of 1BMs Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended
Decenber 31, 1999 into Parts I, Il and IV of Form 10-K

Portions of IBMs definitive Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2000 into



Part Il of Form 10-K
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PART
| TEM 1. BUSI NESS

International Business Machines Corporation (IBM was incorporated in the
State of New York on June 15, 1911, as the Conputing- Tabul ating- Recording Co
(GT-R), a consolidation of the Conputing Scale Co. of Anerica, the Tabulating
Machine Co., and The International Time Recording Co. of New York. In 1924
CT-R adopted the name International Business Machines Corporation

| BM uses advanced information technol ogy to provide customer solutions. The
conpany operates primarily in a single industry using several segments that
create value by offering a variety of solutions that include, either singularly
or in some conbination, technol ogies, systems, products, services, software and
financing.

Organi zational Iy, the conpany’s nmajor operations conprise three hardware
product segnents -- Technol ogy, Personal Systems and Server; a G obal Services
segment; a Software segnment; a G obal Financing segnent and an Enterprise
Investments segment. The segnents are determined based on several factors
including custoner base, homogeneity of products, technology and delivery
channel s

IBMoffers its products through its global sales and distribution
organi zations. The sales and distribution organization has both a geographic
focus (in the Americas, Europe/Mddle East/Africa, and Asia Pacific) and a
specialized and global industry focus. In addition, this organization includes a
global sales and distribution effort devoted exclusively to small and nedium
busi nesses. |BMalso offers its products through a variety of third party
distributors and resellers, as well as through its on-1ine channel s

VWhile the conpany’s various proprietary intellectual property rights are
important to its success, |BMbelieves its business as a whole is not materially
dependent on any particular patent or license, or any particular group of
patents or licenses. IBMowns or is |icensed under a number of patents, which
vary in duration, relating to its products. Licenses under patents owned by |BM
have been and are being granted to others under reasonable ternms and conditions
These protections may not prevent conpetitors fromindependently devel oping
products and services sinilar to or duplicative of the company’s nor can there
be any assurance that these protections will adequately deter nisappropriation
or inproper use of the conpany’s technol ogy. Also, there can be no assurances
that [BMwill be able to obtain fromthird parties the licenses it needs in the
future.

I BM s businesses enploy a wide variety of conponents, supplies and raw
materials froma substantial number of suppliers around the world. To date, the
conpany has found that the conponents, supplies and raw materials that are
necessary for the manufacture, production and delivery of its products have been
available in the quantities that are required. Certain of the conpany’s
businesses rely on a single or linited nunber of suppliers, although the conpany
makes every effort to assure that alternative sources are available if the need
arises. The failure of the conpany’s suppliers to deliver conponents, supplies
and raw materials in sufficient quantities and in a tinely manner coul d
adversely affect the conpany’'s business

IBMs revenues are affected by such factors as the introduction of new
products, the length of the sales cycles and the seasonality of technol ogy
purchases. As a result, the conpany’s results are difficult to predict. These
factors historically have resulted in | ower revenue in the first quarter than in
the imediately preceding fourth quarter

The value of unfilled orders is not a meaningful indicator of future
revenues fromthe conpany’s product offerings due to the significant proportion
of revenue fromservices, the volune of products delivered from shelf
inventories, and the shortening of product delivery schedules. Wth respect to
the conpany's G obal Services segnent, in 1999 the conpany signed contracts
totaling over $38 billion, which contributed to a services backlog at
Decenber 31, 1999 in excess of $60 hillion, conpared with $51 billion at the end
of 1998
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The conpany operates in businesses that are subject to intense competitive
pressures. The conpany’s businesses face a significant number of conpetitors,
ranging from Fortune 50 conpanies to an increasing nunber of relatively smll,
rapidly growing and highly specialized organizations. The conpany believes that
its conbination of technology, performance, quality, reliability, price and the
breadth of products and service offerings are inportant conpetitive factors.

Intense conpetitive pressures coul d affect prices or demand for the
conpany’s products and services, resulting in reduced profit margins and/or |oss
of market opportunity. Unlike many of its conpetitors, the conpany has a
portfolio of businesses and nust allocate resources across these businesses
while conpeting with conpanies that specialize in one or more of these product
lines. As a result, the conpany may not fund or invest in certain of its
busi nesses to the same degree that its conpetitors do and these conpetitors may
have greater financial, technical and marketing resources available to themthan
the businesses against which they conpete.

The conpany operates in more than 150 countries worldwi de and derives nore
than half of its revenues fromsales outside the United States. Changes in the
laws or policies of the countries in which the conpany operates could affect the
conpany’s business in that country and the conpany’s results of operations. The
conpany’s results of operations also could be affected by econonic and political
changes in those countries and by macroecononi ¢ changes, including recessions
and inflation. For exanple, weakness in the Asian and Latin Anerican econonies
had an adverse effect on the company’s business in 1998.

The following information is included in IBMs 1999 Annual Report to
Stockhol ders and is incorporated herein by reference:

Segrent information and revenue by classes of simlar products or
services--Pages 89 through 93.

Financial information by geographic areas--Page 93.

Amount spent during each of the last three years on research and devel opnent
activities--Page 82.

Financial information regarding environmental activities--Page 77.
The nunber of persons enployed by the registrant--Page 63.
The managenent di scussion overvi ew - Page 52.

Forward-1ooking and Cautionary Statements: Certain statenents contained in
this Annual Report may constitute "forward-looking statements" within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation ReformAct of 1995 ("Reform Act").
The conpany may al so make forward-|ooking statenents in other reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Cormission, in materials delivered to stockhol ders
and in press releases. In addition, the conpany’s representatives may fromtine
to time make oral forward-looking statements. Forward-|ooking statements provide
current expectations of future events based on certain assunptions and include
any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact.
Wrds such as "anticipates," "believes," "expects," "estimates," "intends,"
"plans," "projects,” and sinmlar expressions, may identify such forward-Iooking
statements. In accordance with the ReformAct, set forth bel ow are cautionary
statements that accompany those forward-1ooking statenents. Readers shoul d
carefully review these cautionary statements as they identify certain inportant
factors that coul d cause actual results to differ materially fromthose in the
forward-1ooking statements and fromhistorical trends. The followi ng cautionary
statements are not exclusive and are in addition to other factors discussed
el sewhere in this Annual Report, in the conpany's filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission or in materials incorporated therein by reference.

New Products and the Pace of Technol ogical Change: The company’s results of
operations depend on the continued successful devel opnent and nmarketing of new
and innovative products and services. The devel opnent of new products and
services requires significant capital investments by the conpany's
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various businesses and the success of these products and services depends on
their acceptance by custoners and business partners. Further, the conpany’s

busi nesses are characterized by rapid technol ogical changes and correspondi ng
shifts in custoner demand, resulting in unpredictable product transitions and
shortened |ife cycles and increasing enphasis on being first to market with new
products and services

There can be no assurance that the company will successfully introduce new
products and services, that these products and services will be accepted by
customers, or that the conpany’s businesses will recoup or realize a return on
their capital investments. In addition, fromtime to tine the conpany may
experience difficulties or delays in the devel opment, production or marketing of
new products and services

Volatility of Stock Prices: The company’s stock price is affected by a
nunber of factors, including quarterly variations in results, the conpetitive
| andscape, general econonic and market conditions and estinates and projections
by the investment community. As a result, like other technology conpanies, the
conpany’s stock price is subject to significant volatility

Dependence on Key Personnel: Mich of the future success of the company
depends on the continued service and availability of skilled personnel
including technical, marketing and staff positions. Experienced personnel in the
information technol ogy industry are in high demand and conpetition for their
talents is intense. There can be no assurance that the conpany will be able to
successfully retain and attract the key personnel it needs

Currency and Customer Financing Risks: The conmpany derives a significant
percentage of its non-US. revenues fromits affiliates operating in |oca
currency environnents and its results are affected by changes in the relative
val ues of non-U'S. currencies and the U S. dollar. Further, inherent in the
conpany’ s custoner financing business are risks related to the concentration of
credit risk and the creditworthiness of the custoner, interest rate and currency
fluctuations on the associated debt and liabilities and the determination of
resi dual values. The company enploys a nunber of strategies to manage these
risks, including the use of derivative financial instruments. Derivatives
invol ve the risk of non-performance by the counterparty. In addition, there can
be no assurance that the conpany's efforts to manage these risks will be
successf ul

Distribution Channels: The conpany offers its products directly and through
avariety of third party distributors and resellers. Changes in the financial or
business condition of these distributors and resellers could subject the conpany
to losses and affect its ability to bring its products to market

Acquisitions and Alliances: The conmpany has made and expects to continue to
make acquisitions or enter into alliances fromtime to time. Acquisitions and
alliances present significant challenges and risks relating to the integration
of the business into the conpany, and there can be no assurances that the
conpany will manage acquisitions and alliances successfully

| TEM 2. PROPERTI ES

At Decenber 31, 1999, IBMs manufacturing and devel opment facilities in the
United States had aggregate floor space of 41.6 million square feet, of which
33.3 mllion was owned and 8.3 million was |eased. O these amounts,

2.8 nillion square feet was vacant and 2.1 mllion square feet was being |eased
to non-1BM businesses. Similar facilities in 15 other countries total ed

16.1 nmillion square feet, of which 11.1 nmillion was owned and 5.0 nillion was
leased. Of these amounts, .3 million square feet was vacant and .4 nillion
square feet was being |eased to non-1BM businesses

Al'though inproved production techniques, productivity gains and
infrastructure reduction actions have resulted in reduced manufacturing floor
space, continuous upgrading of facilities is essential to maintain technol ogica
| eadership, inprove productivity, and meet customer demand. For additiona
information on expenditures for plant, rental machines and other property, refer
to "Investnents" on page 60 of IBMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders which is
incorporated herein by reference
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EXECUTI VE OFFI CERS OF THE REG STRANT (AT MARCH 13, 2000):

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
OFFI CER

AGE SINCE
<S> <G <C
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive

Oficer

Louis V. Gerstner, Jr.(1). .o 58 1993
Senior Vice Presidents
J. Thomas Bouchard, Human Resources......................... 59 1994
Nicholas M Donofrio, Goup Executive....................... 54 1995
Douglas T. Elix, Goup Executive..............covvivininnnn, 51 1999
WIliamA Etherington, Goup Executive..................... 58 1998
J. Bruce Harreld, Strategy.............cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiin, 49 1995
Paul M Horn, Research..............cccoiiiiiiiiiiinnn., 53 1996
John R Joyce, Chief Financial Oficer...................... 46 1999
Abby F. Kohnstamm Marketing.................cooiiiiiil 46 1998
Sanuel J. Palnmisano, Group Executive........................ 48 1997
Lawence R Ricciardi, General Counsel...................... 59 1995
David M Thomas, Group Executive.................ccovvvvnn., 50 1998
John M Thonpson, Goup Executive...............ccovvvvnnn. 57 1989
Vice Presidents
Mark Loughridge, Controller..........ccovvviiiiiiiiinnnn., 46 1998
Daniel E ODonnell, Secretary.........coovovvvivivinvnnnnn., 52 1998
Robert F. W00ds, Treasurer..........ovoveiniinnnnnannnnnnns. 44 2000

</ Tabl e>

(1) Menber of the Board of Directors.

Al executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors and serve until
the next election of officers in conjunction with the annual meeting of the
stockhol ders as provided in the By-laws. Each executive officer naned above,
with the exception of J. Bruce Harreld, Lawrence R Ricciardi and Robert F.
Wods has been an executive of IBMor its subsidiaries during the past five
years.

M. Harreld was president of Boston Chicken, Inc., a company which operates
and franchises foodservice stores, from1993 until joining [BMin 1995. Prior to
that he was senior vice president, marketing and information services, at Kraft
General Foods, Inc. where he also served as the conmpany's chief information
officer from1989 to 1992,

M. Ricciardi was president of RIR Nabisco, Inc., an international consumer
products conpany, from 1993 until joining IBMin 1995. From 1989 to 1993, he
al so served as executive vice president and general counsel at RIR
Nabi sco, Inc. Prior to 1989, he was executive vice president and general counsel
of American Express Travel Related Services Conpany, Inc.

M. Wods was with E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Company, a global science
conpany focused on chemical and material and biological sciences, as Vice
President and Managing Director--DuPont Asia Pacific Ltd. from 1994 until
joining IBMin 1995. From 1992 to 1994, he was Director--Industrial Films--U.S.
and prior to that from1989 to 1992 he was Vice President-Finance, DuPont
Mexi co. From 1979 to 1989 he held a nunber of financial positions with DuPont.

| TEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDI NGS:

Refer to note O "Contingencies" on page 79 of IBMs 1999 Annual Report to
Stockhol ders which is incorporated herein by reference.

4
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| TEM 4. SUBM SSI ON OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS:

Not applicabl e.
PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REG STRANT' S COMVON EQUI TY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS:

Refer to pages 94 and 95 of IBMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders which
are incorporated herein by reference solely as they relate to this item

| BM comon stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Chicago Stock
Exchange and Pacific Stock Exchange. There were 646,147 comon stockhol ders of
record at March 1, 2000.
| TEM 6. SELECTED FI NANCI AL DATA:

Refer to page 94 of 1BMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders which is
incorporated herein by reference.

I TEM 7. MANAGEMENT' S DI SCUSSI ON AND ANALYSI S OF FI NANCI AL CONDI TI ON AND RESULTS
CF CPERATI ONS:

Refer to pages 52 through 63 of IBMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders
which are incorporated herein by reference.

| TEM 7A. QUANTI TATI VE AND QUALI TATI VE DI SCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RI SKS:

Refer to the section titled "Mrket Risk" on pages 61 and 62 of IBMs 1999
Annual Report to Stockhol ders which is incorporated herein by reference.

| TEM 8. FINANCI AL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA:

Refer to pages 50 and 51 and 64 through 93 of IBMs 1999 Annual Report to
Stockhol ders which are incorporated herein by reference. Also refer to the
Financial Statement Schedule on page S-1 of this Form

I TEM 9. CHANGES | N AND DI SAGREEMENTS W TH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTI NG AND
FI NANCI AL DI SCLOSURE:

Not applicabl e.
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PART 111
| TEM 10. DI RECTORS AND EXECUTI VE OFFI CERS OF THE REG STRANT:
Refer to pages 5 through 7 of IBMs definitive Proxy Statenent dated
March 13, 2000, which are incorporated herein by reference. Also refer to Item?2
entitled "Executive Officers of the Registrant" in Part | of this Form

| TEM 11. EXECUTI VE COVPENSATI O\

Refer to pages 12 through 20 of IBMs definitive Proxy Statenent dated
March 13, 2000, which are incorporated herein by reference.

| TEM 12. SECURI TY OMNERSH P OF CERTAI N BENEFI CI AL OMNERS AND MANAGENENT:
(a) Security Omnership of Certain Beneficial Oaners:
Not applicabl e.

(b) Security Omnership of Managenent:

Refer to the section entitled "Owership of Securities--Conmon Stock and
Total Stock-Based Hol dings" appearing on pages 10 and 11 of IBMs
definitive Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2000, which are incorporated
herein by reference.

| TEM 13. CERTAI'N RELATI ONSHI PS AND RELATED TRANSACTI ONS:

Refer to the section entitled "CQther Relationships" appearing on page 9 of
IBMs definitive Proxy Statenent dated March 13, 2000, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

PART |V
| TEM 14. EXH BITS, FINANCI AL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPCRTS ON FORM 8-K:

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial statements fromIBMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders
which are incorporated herein by reference:

Report of Independent Accountants (page 51).

Consol i dated Statement of Earnings for the years ended Decenber 31,
1999, 1998 and 1997 (page 64).

Consol i dated Statenment of Financial Position at Decenber 31, 1999 and
1998 (page 65).

Consol i dated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended
Decenber 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 (page 68).

Consol i dated Statement of Stockhol ders’ Equity at December 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997 (pages 66 and 67).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (pages 69 through 93).

6
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2. Financial statement schedules required to be filed by Item8 of this
Form

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>

SCHEDULE
PAGE NUMBER
<S> < <>
10..... Report of Independent Accountants on Financial

Statement Schedul es.

S1... [ Val uation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves.
</ Tabl e>

Al'l other schedules are onitted as the required matter is not present,
the amounts are not significant or the information is shown in the
consol i dated financial statements or the notes thereto.
3. Exhibits:
Included in this Form 10-K:

| -- Conputation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to
Conbi ned Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.

[l -- Parents and Subsidiaries.
11 -- Consent of Independent Accountants.

IV -- IBMs 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders, certain sections of which
have been incorporated herein by reference.

V -- Powers of Attorney.

VI -- Financial Data Schedule.
VIT -- |BM Suppl emental Executive Retention Plan.
Not included in this Form10-K:

The Certificate of Incorporation of IBMis Exhibit (3)(i) to
Form8-K filed April 28, 1999, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

The By-laws of 1BMas anended through Cctober 27, 1998, is Exhibit 3
to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Septenber 30, 1998, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The 1BM 1999 Long- Term Performance Plan, a conpensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-30424 on FormS-8, filed
on February 15, 2000, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The 1BM 1997 Long- Term Performance Plan, a compensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 333-31305 on FormS-8, filed
on July 15, 1997, and i s hereby incorporated by reference.

The 1BM 1994 Long- Term Performance Plan, a conpensatory plan, is
contained in Registration Statement No. 33-53777 on FormS-8, filed
on May 24, 1994, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Board of Directors conpensatory plans, as described under "Directors’
Conpensation" on pages 9 and 10 of IBMs definitive Proxy Statement
dated March 13, 2000, which is incorporated herein by reference.

| BM Board of Directors Deferred Conpensation and Equity Award Plan is
Exhibit X to Form10-K for the year ended Decenber 31, 1996, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

7
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The 1BM Non- Enpl oyee Directors Stock Option Plan is Appendix B to
[BMs definitive Proxy Statement dated March 14, 1995, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The |BM Extended Tax Deferred Savings Plan is Exhibit X to Form 10-K
for the year ended Decenber 31, 1994, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

The Enpl oynent Agreement for L.V. Gerstner, Jr. is Exhibit 19 to
Form 10-Q dated March 31, 1993, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

Amendnent to Enployment Agreenent for L.V. CGerstner, Jr. dated as of
January 1, 1996, is Exhibit X to Form 10-K for the year ended
Decenber 31, 1995, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Second Amendment to Enploynment Agreenent for L.V. Gerstner, Jr. dated
as of November 17, 1997, is Exhibit VI to Form 10-K for the year
ended Decenber 31, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 7.25% Notes
due 2002 are Exhibits 4(a) through 4(1) to Registration Statenent

No. 33-33590 on FormS-3, filed on February 22, 1990, and are hereby
incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 6.375%
Notes due 2000 and the 7.50% Debentures due 2013 are Exhibits 4(a)
through 4(1) to Registration Statement No. 33-49475(1) on Form S-3,
filed May 24, 1993, and are hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrunents defining the rights of holders of the 8.375%
Debentures due 2019 are Exhibits 4(a)(b)(c) and (d) to Registration
Statement 33-31732 on Form S-3, filed on Cctober 24, 1989, and are
hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrunents defining the rights of holders of the 7.00%

Debent ures due 2025 and the 7.00% Debentures due 2045 are Exhibit 2
and 3 to Form8-K filed on Cctober 30, 1995, and are hereby
incorporated by reference.

The instrunent defining the rights of holders of the 7.125%
Debentures due 2096 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K/ A filed on Decenber 6,
1996, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 6.45% Notes
due 2007 and the 6.22% Debentures due 2027 are Exhibits 2 and 3 to
Form8-K, filed on August 1, 1997, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the 6.50%
Debentures due 2028 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K filed on January 8,
1998, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrunments defining the rights of the holders of the 5.375%
Notes due 2009 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K filed on January 29, 1999,
and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The 1BM Extended Tax Deferred Savings Plan is Exhibit X to Form 10-K
for the year ended Decenber 31, 1994, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

[BMs definitive Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2000, certain
sections of which have been incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

The conmpany filed Form8-K on Cctober 21, 1999, with respect to the
conpany’s financial results for the periods ended Septenber 30, 1999 and
included unaudited Consolidated Statement of Earnings, Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position and Segment Data for the periods ended
Sept ember 30, 1999.
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SI GNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

<Tabl e>
<S> G <O
| NTERNATI ONAL BUSI NESS MACHI NES CORPCRATI ON
(Regi strant)
By: I's/ LOUS V. GERSTNER JR
(Louis V. Gerstner, Jr.)
CHAI RVAN OF THE BOARD OF DI RECTCRS
AND CH EF EXECUTI VE OFFI CER
</ Tabl e>

Date: March 13, 2000

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this
report has been signed below by the follow ng persons on behal f of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
S| GNATURE TITLE DATE
<C <S> <C
Isl JOAN R JOYCE
------------------------------------------- Senior Vice President, Mrch 13, 2000
(John R Joyce) Chief Financial Officer
I'sl MARK LOUGHRI DGE
------------------------------------------- Vice President and March 13, 2000
(Mark Loughri dge) Control | er
</ Tabl e>
<Tabl >
<S> <C G <
CATHLEEN BLACK Director
KENNETH |. CHENAULT Director
JUERGEN DORVANN Director
NANNERL O. KECHANE Director
CHARLES F. KNI GHT Director
M NORU MAKI HARA Director By: /sl DANEL E. O DONNELL
LUCI O A NOTO Director (Daniel E O Donnell)
JOHN B. SLAUGHTER Director ATTORNEY- | N FACT
ALEX TROTMAN Director
LODEW JK C. VAN WACHEM Director March 13, 2000
<[/ Tabl e>
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REPCRT OF | NDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON
FI NANCI AL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

To the Stockhol ders and Board of Directors of
I nternational Business Machines Corporation

Qur audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our
report dated January 19, 2000, appearing on page 51 of the 1999 Annual Report to
Stockhol ders of International Business Machines Corporation, (which report and
consol i dated financial statements are incorporated by reference in this Annua
Report on Form 10-K) also included an audit of the Financial Statement Schedul e
listed in Item14(a)2 of this Form10-K. In our opinion, this Financia
Statement Schedul e present fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financia
statenents.

I'sl Pricewat erhouseCoopers LLP
Pri cewat erhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York

January 19, 2000

10
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| NTERNATI ONAL BUSI NESS MACHI NES CORPORATI ON
AND SUBSI DI ARY COMPANI ES
VALUATI ON AND QUALI FYI' NG ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31:
(DOLLARS IN M LLI ONS)
<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
ADDI TI ONS
BALANCE AT CHARGED
BEG NNI NG TO COSTS
DESCRI PTION OF PEROD  AND EXPENSES ~ WRITEQFFS  OTHER (A)
<S> <C <C <C <C
ALLOMNCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
1999
SsQUTTENt. $794 $285 $202 $(23)
--Non-current. ... $195 $ 34 $ 28 $(43)
1998
SsQUrTeNt . $775 $165 $188 $ 42
--Non-current. ... $164 $ 42 $ 18 $ 7
1997
SsQUTTENt. $787 $277 $267 $(22)
--Non-current. ... $164 $ 30 $21 $(9)
ALLOMNCE FOR | NVENTORY LOSSES
1999, .. $723 $644 $514 $ 16
1998, $791 $761 $847 $ 18
1997, $942 $697 $778 $(70)

(A) PRIMARILY COVPRI SES CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS.

1

BALANCE AT
END
CF PEROD
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EXH BI T | NDEX

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
REFERENCE
NUMBER PER
| TEM 601 OF EXH BI T
REGULATI ON NUMBER N
SK DESCRI PTI ON OF EXH BI TS TH'S FORM 10-K
<S> <G <G
Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement,
(2) liquidation or succession. Not applicabl e

(3) Certificate of Incorporation and By-laus.

The Certificate of Incorporation of IBMis Exhibit (3)(i) to
Form8-K filed April 28, 1999, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

The By-laws of 1BMas amended through Cctober 27, 1998, is
Exhibit 3 to Form10-Q for the quarter ended Septenmber 30,
1998, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

(4) Instruments defining the rights of security hol ders.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
7.25% Notes due 2002 are Exhibits 4(a) through 4(1) to

Regi stration Statement No. 33-33590 on FormS-3, filed
February 22, 1990, and are hereby incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
6. 375% Not es due 2000 and the 7.50% Debentures due 2013 are
Exhi bits 4(a) through 4(1) to Registration Statement No.
33-49475(1) on FormS-3, filed on May 24, 1993, and are
hereby incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
8.375% Debent ures due 2019 are Exhibits 4(a)(b)(c) and (d)
to Registration Statement No. 33-31732 on FormS-3, filed on
Cctober 24, 1989, are hereby incorporated by reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
7.00% Debent ures due 2025 and the 7.00% Debentures due 2045
are Exhibits 2 and 3 to Form8-K, filed on Cctober 30, 1995,
and are hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrument defining the rights of the holders of the
7.125% Debent ures due 2096 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K/A filed
on December 6, 1996, and is hereby incorporated by
reference.

The instruments defining the rights of the holders of the
6. 45% Not es due 2007 and the 6.22% Debentures due 2027 are
Exhibit 2 and 3 to Form8-K, filed on August 1, 1997, and
i s hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrunents defining the rights of the holders of the
6.50% Debent ures due 2028 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K filed on
January 8, 1998, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The instrument defining the rights of the holders of the
5.375% Notes due 2009 is Exhibit 2 to Form8-K filed on
January 29, 1999, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

(9) Voting trust agreenent. Not applicable
</ Tabl e>
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REFERENCE
NUMBER PER
| TEM 601 OF EXH BI T
REGULATI ON NUMBER | N
SK DESCRI PTI ON OF EXH BI TS TH'S FORM 10-K
<S> < <
(10) Material contracts.

The 1BM 1999 Long- Term Performance Plan, a conpensatory
plan, is contained in Registration Statement No. 333-30424
on FormS-8, filed on February 15, 2000, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The 1BM 1997 Long- Term Performance Plan, a conpensatory
plan, is contained in Registration Statement No. 333-31305
on FormS-8, filed on July 15, 1997, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

The 1BM 1994 Long- Term Performance Plan, a conpensatory
plan, is contained in Registration Statement No. 33-53777 on
FormS-8, filed on May 24, 1994, and is hereby incorporated
by reference.

Board of Directors conpensatory arrangenents as described
under "Directors’ Conpensation” on pages 9 and 10 of IBMs
definitive Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2000, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

The 1 BM Suppl emental Executive Retention Plan. Vi

The | BM Extended Tax Deferred Savings Plan is Exhibit Xto
Form 10-K for the year ended Decenber 31, 1994, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

The I1BM Board of Directors Deferred Conpensation and Equity
Award Plan is Exhibit X to Form10-K for the year ended
Decenber 31, 1996, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The | BM Non- Enpl oyee Directors Stock Cption Plan is
Appendix B to IBMs definitive Proxy Statenment dated
March 14, 1995, and is hereby incorporated by reference.

The Enploynent Agreement for L.V. Gerstner, Jr. is
Exhibit 19 to Form 10-Q dated March 31, 1993, and is hereby
incorporated by reference.

Amendment to Enployment Agreenent for L.V. Gerstner, Jr.
dated as of January 1, 1996, is Exhibit X to Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1995, and is hereby incorporated
by reference.

Second Amendment to Enployment Agreement for L.V. Gerstner,
Jr., dated as of Novenber 17, 1997, is Exhibit VI to

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997, and is
hereby incorporated by reference.

(11) Statement re conputation of per share earnings.

The statement re conputation of per share earnings is note T
"Earnings Per Share of Common Stock" on page 83 of IBMs
1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders, which is incorporated
herein by reference.

(12) Statement re conputation of ratios.
</ Tahl e>
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(18)
(19)

(21)

(22)
(23)
(24)

(27)

(28)

(99)
</ Tabl e>

DESCRI PTI ON OF EXH BI TS

<
Annual report to security hol ders.

Letter re change in accounting principles.
Previously unfiled documents.
Subsi diaries of the registrant.

Publ i shed report regarding matters subnitted to vote of
security hol ders.

Consents of experts and counsel.
Powers of attorney.
Financial Data Schedul e.

Information fromreports furnished to state insurance
regul atory authorities.

Addi tional exhibits.

EXHBIT
NUMBER | N
TH'S FCRM 10-K

Not applicable
Not applicable

Not applicable
1
\

Vi

Not applicable

Not applicable
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EXHBIT VI

SUMARY CF THE
| BM SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTI VE RETENTI ON PLAN

The | BM Suppl emental Executive Retirement Plan is amended and renaned
the IBM Suppl emental Executive Retention Plan ("SERP"), effective July 1,
1999.

|. ELIGBILITY

Al retired executives currently receiving benefits fromthe prior SERP
on June 30, 1999, and all executives who (a) are within five years of
retirement eligibility, and have conpleted |BM enpl oyment of at |east one
year, on June 30, 1999, and (b) have met the prior SERP average pay threshold
based on earnings for service to Decenber 31, 1998, will continue to be
covered by the provisions of the prior SERP in existence on June 30, 1999.
The cal culation of any additional benefits payable under the prior SERP will
always be based on the IBMRetirement Plan as the offsetting pension plan
even if the executive chooses to be covered by the IBM Personal Pension Plan
and the formuila breakpoint (but not the pay threshold) will be indexed by at
| east 5% per year beginning in 2000).

Executives who (a) are more than 5 years fromretirenent eligibility, and
have conpl eted |BM enpl oyment of at |east one year on June 30, 1999 and (b)
have nmet the prior SERP average pay threshol d based on earnings for service
to Decenber 31, 1998, will be covered by transition provisions as described
in Section |11 bel ow.

Al'l executives who meet the following criteria on the day they |eave
active enploynment of IBMUS, will be covered by the provisions of the current
SERP as described in Section Il bel ow

- actively enployed by IBMUS as an executive;

- at least age 60 with 5 years of service (or age 55 with 15 years of
service and |eave with the approval of senior managenent);

- Meet the average pay threshol d of $250,000 for 1999 (increased
annual l'y by at |east 5% per annunj.

Executives who are eligible under the provisions of both the prior SERP
and current SERP, shall receive benefits based on the provisions of the SERP
whi ch provides the greater benefits.

['1. CURRENT SERP PROVI SIONS AS CF JULY 1, 1999

Full benefits (based on the formula described bel ow) are available only
to eligible executives who |eave enployment with IBMUS at or after age 60
with at least five years of service. Eligible executives who |eave
enpl oynent with [BMat or after age 55 with at |east 15 years of service may
receive a reduced benefit at the discretion of |BM senior managenent
(reduction is 6%per year on the total benefit based on the formula described
below), prorated for years and months of age prior to age 60).

The total benefit formula is based on "average pensionable pay." This
is "eligible conpensation" (as defined in the |BMRetirenent Plan, except
that annual incentive for Sales Executives will be counted at target starting
with 1999 earnings) earned over a five-year period (greater of final
five-years of IBMor five highest consecutive cal endar years). The formula
is:

the sumof (a) 1%of average pensionable pay up to the Current SERP
pay threshold for that year and (b) 2.5%of average pensionable pay
above the Current SERP pay threshold for that year,

multiplied by years of service (up to a maxinumof 35 years of service).

In no case can the total benefit under the SERP formula be greater than
65% of average pensionable pay times a fraction, the nunerator of which is
actual years of service (up to a maximumof 35) and the denominator of which
is 35.
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The total benefit derived fromthis formila is then offset by the
single-life annuity available to or chosen by the individual fromthe |BM
Personal Pension Plan, except that, for executives who were within 5 years of
retirement under the IBM Retirement Plan and have conpleted | BM enpl oyment of
at lest one year on June 30, 1999, the fornula is offset by the single life
annuity under the IBM Retirement Plan, even if the executives chooses to be
covered by the IBM Personal Pension Account. The annuity options available
are the same as the annuity options available under the IBM Personal Pension
Plan (and different forms of annuity distribution may be elected under each
of the plans).

[f an eligible executives dies while in service after reaching age 55
with at least 15 years of service or age 60 with at least 5 years of service
(and net the average pay threshold in effect at time of death), the surviving
spouse or domestic partner will be eligible for a benefit payable as a single
life annuity. The total benefit will be calculated based on the annuity that
woul d have been payabl e had the executive separated on the date of death,
elected a 50%joint and survivor annuity and died the same day. This benefit
will be offset by the Personal Pension Plan annuity paid to the surviving
spouse or domestic partner (or otherw se payable had a different form of
Personal Pension Plan payout not applied). [If an eligible executive bhecones
disabled after reaching age 55 with at least 15 years of service or age 60
with at least 5 years of service (and net the average pay threshold in effect
at that time), the SERP applies based on service to the date the | BM
disability benefit starts. Pre-age 60 reduction factors apply to both death
and disability benefits.

SERP benefits continue to be subject to forfeiture if the executive
engages in activities which IBMin its discretion considers to IBM including
for an | BM conpetitor.

[f an executive is rehired after a period of severance, service prior
to that period of severance will he forfeited for purposes of the current
SERP formul a.

[11. TRANSITION

Executives who (a) are more than 5 years formretirement eligibility,
and have conpl eted | BM enpl oynent o fat |east one year, on June 30, 1999 and
(b) have net the prior SERP average pay threshol d based on earnings for
service to December 31, 1998, will be covered by the followi ng transition
provi si ons:

These individuals will be covered by the current SERP provisions as of
July 1, 1999. In addition, the prior SERP fornula in effect on June 30,
1999, will continue to accrue until December 31, 2003 (the fornula breakpoi nt
(but not the pay threshold) will be indexed by at |east 5% per year beginning
in2000). At that time, the total benefit accrued under that formula will be
calculated and will be frozen. Wen the executives |eave IBMUS, he or she
will be eligible for a SERP benefit equal to the greater of:

- The current SERP benefit deternined based on the provisions in
Section Il (provided the individual is eligible based on those
provisions); or

- The frozen benefit calculated as described above provided at
departure the individual neets the age and service eligibility
criteria of the prior SERP (and reduced if the executive |eaves
before age 60);

Offset by the IBM Personal Pension Plan benefit as described in Section Il.
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EXHBIT

COVPUTATI ON OF RATI O OF EARNINGS TO FI XED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBI NED FI XED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK Di VI DENDS

(UNAUDI TED)

<Tabl e>
<Capti on>

<S>

Incone before income taxes (1)..................

Add:
Fixed charges, excluding capitalized

LT 1] A

Income as adjusted before income taxes........

Fi xed charges

Interest expense............cooiiiiiiiieinn.
Capitalized interest.............coovvvinennn.

Portion of rental expense representative

of interest........oooiiiii

Total fixed charges.................coiiiiiit,
Preferred stock dividend (2)....................

Conbined fixed charges and preferred

stock dividends.............. ool
Ratio of net income to fixed charges............
Ratio of net income to combined fixed charges

and preferred stock dividend..................

<[/ Tabl e>

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31:

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
<C <C < <C <C
$11,665 $8,997 $9,054 $ 8599 $7,910

$13,586  $11,033  $11,054  $10,541 $9, 882
$1,455 $1,559 $1,573 § 1,545 $1,591
23 28 32 31 23

466 477 427 397 381
$1,944 $2,064 $2032 $1,973 $1,995
30 29 29 32 37
$1,974  $2093 $2061 $2005 $2,032
7.0 5.3 5.4 5.3 5.0

6.9 5.3 5.4 5.3 4.9

(1) Income before incone taxes excludes (a) anortization of capitalized interest
and (b) the conpany’s share in the income and |osses of

| ess-than-fifty-percent-owed affiliates

(2) Included in the ratio calculation are preferred stock dividends of
$20 million for 1999, 1998, 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively, or
$30 million in 1999, $29 mllion in 1998 and 1997, $32 nillion in 1996 and
$37 million in 1995 representing the pre-tax income that would be required
to cover such dividend requirements based on the conpany’s effective tax
rate for 1999, 1998, 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively. Excluded fromthe
ratio conputation for 1995 are transaction costs of $42 nillion relating to
the repurchase of Series A7 1/2 percent preferred stock depositary shares
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report of managenent

International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information
presented in this Annual Report rests with |BM management. The acconpanying
financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles, applying certain estimtes and judgments as required.

| BM maintains an effective internal control structure. It consists, in part, of
organi zational arrangements with clearly defined lines of responsibility and

del egation of authority, and conprehensive systems and control procedures. W
believe this structure provides reasonabl e assurance that transactions are
executed in accordance with managenent authorization, and that they are
appropriately recorded, in order to permt preparation of financial statements
inconfornity with generally accepted accounting principles and to adequately
safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of assets. An inportant element of
the control environment is an ongoing internal audit program

To assure the effective administration of internal control, we carefully select
and train our enployees, develop and disseninate witten policies and
procedures, provide appropriate commnication channels, and foster an
environment conducive to the effective functioning of controls. W believe that
it is essential for the conpany to conduct its business affairs in accordance
with the highest ethical standards, as set forth in the | BM Business Conduct

Qui delines. These guidelines, translated into numerous |anguages, are
distributed to enployees throughout the world, and reenphasized through internal
programs to assure that they are understood and fol | owed.

Pri cewat erhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, is retained to exan ne
IBMs financial statements. Its accompanying report is based on an exanmination
conducted in accordance with general |y accepted auditing standards, including a
review of the internal control structure and tests of accounting procedures and
records.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is conposed solely of outside
directors, and is responsible for recomending to the Board the independent
accounting firmto be retained for the comng year, subject to stockhol der
approval. The Audit Conmittee meets periodically and privately with the

i ndependent accountants, with our internal auditors, as well as with |BM
management, to review accounting, auditing, internal control structure and
financial reporting mtters.

I'sl Louis V. Gerstner, Jr. I's/ John R Joyce
Louis V. Cerstner, Jr. John R Joyce
Chai rman of the Board and Senior Vice President and

Chi ef Executive Officer Chief Financial Oficer
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report of independent accountants

International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es

To the Stockhol ders and Board of Directors of International Business Machines
Cor poration:

I'n our opinion, the acconpanying consolidated financial statenments, appearing on
pages 64 through 93, present fairly, in all material respects, the financia
position of International Business Machines Corporation and its subsidiaries at
Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended Decenber 31, 1999, in
confornity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
These financial statenents are the responsibility of the conpany’s managenent
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. W conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with
auditing standards general |y accepted in the United States, which require that
we plan and performthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material nisstatement. An audit includes
examning, on a test basis, evidence supporting the anounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financia
statement presentation. W believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for the opinion expressed above

I'sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Pri cewat erhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
January 19, 2000
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managenent di scussi on

International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es

Overview of 1999

IBMs financial performance reflects two very different halves of 1999. The
conpany’s performance in the first half was strong. The second hal f was hit hard
by Y2K-related issues, as many of its large custoners |ocked down their systens
and technol ogy purchases heading into the Y2K transition. Despite the difficult
second hal f, the overall year was a good one for the conpany. Revenue, net
incone and earnings per share were at record |evels. The conpany al so had good
results on a full-year basis in the strategic growth areas of services, software
and original equi pment manufacturer (CEM technol ogy.

The conpany reported revenue of $87.5 billion and net incone of $7.7 billion
which yielded $4.12 per diluted conmon share. The results include an after-tax
benefit of $750 nillion, or $.40 per diluted common share, for a gain fromthe
sale of the conpany’s G obal Network to AT&T, charges for actions intended to
improve the long-term conpetitiveness of the conpany, a change in personal
conputer depreciable lives and charges for acquired in-process research and
devel opment related to acquisitions.

The conpany ended 1999 with cash and cash equivalents and marketabl e securities
of $5.8 hillion, after funding investnents of approximtely $20 billion in
capital expenditures, research and devel opnent, strategic acquisitions and
repurchases of common stock. The conpany’s debt ratios were well bel ow 1998

| evel s. The non-global financing debt-to-capital ratio was 9 percent, and the
@ obal Financing business |everage was 5.5 to 1.

Chal | enges

The conpany believes that it has passed the most critical stage of Y2K However,
because it expects the lockdowns to be lifted at different times by different
customers during the early part of 2000, the conpany will feel the lingering
effects of Y2K

Consistent with the fundanental strategy that it put in place several years ago,
the conpany is well positioned to help its customers build integrated e-business
sol utions. Services, software and OEMtechnol ogy that are required for this
demandi ng e-business environment will drive the growth in IBMs revenue and
earnings.

I'n addition, the conpany is aggressively pursuing expanding nmarkets. By
increasing sales and distribution through ibmcom the conpany will continue to
build itself into a |eading e-business conpany.

Forwar d-1ooking and Cautionary Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may constitute
forward-1ooking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation ReformAct of 1995. These statements involve a number of risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to be materially
different, as discussed more fully elsewhere in this Annual Report and in the
conpany’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Conmission, including the
conpany’s 1999 Form 10-K to be filed on or about March 13, 2000.

Results of Qperations

(Dol lars in mllions

except per share amounts) 1999 1998 1997
Revenue $87,548 $81, 667 $78,508
Cost 55, 619 50, 795 47,899
Goss profit 31,929 30, 872 30, 609
Gross profit margin 36. 4% 37.8% 39. 0%
Total expense 20,172 21,832 21,582
I ncore hefore

incone taxes $11, 757 $ 9,040 $ 9,027
Net income $ 7,712 $ 6,328 $ 6,093
Earni ngs per share of

conmon st ock- -

assuning dilution $ 4.12 $ 3.29 $ 3.00

Earnings per share of



conmon st ock- - basi ¢ $ 4.25 $ 3.38 $ 3.09

Revenue in 1999 grew 7.2 percent. Gowth in Gobal Services, personal conputers,
m croel ectronics and middl eware software products drove the increase, partially
offset by |ower server revenue.
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International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es
The following table identifies the company’s percentage of revenue by category:
1999 1998 1997
Har dwar e 42. 3% 43. 4% 46. 7%
G obal Services 36.7 35.4 32.1
Sof t war e 14.5 14.5 14.2
@ obal Financing 3.6 3.5 3.6
Enterprise I nvestnents/ Ct her 2.9 3.2 3.4
Tot al 100. 0% 100. 0% 100. 0%

The overal | gross profit margin of 36.4 percent decreased 1.4 points from 1998,
following a 1.2 point decrease in 1998 versus 1997. The conpany’s continued
shift in revenue to Gobal Services primarily drove the decline. G obal Services
has a |ower gross profit margin than the conpany’s server products (S/390,

AS/ 400, RS/6000 and NUMA-Q, which are a declining percentage of total revenue.

Revenue for 1999 fromthe conpany’s end-user businesses totaled $38.8 billion
fromthe Anericas, an increase of 5.2 percent (7 percent increase in constant
currency) from1998. Revenue from Europe/ M ddl e East/Africa was $25.7 billion,
up 1.8 percent (6 percent increase in constant currency). Asia Pacific revenue
increased 19.4 percent (8 percent increase in constant currency) to $15.2
billion. CEMrevenue was $7.8 billion, a 15.3 percent increase (14 percent
increase in constant currency) compared with 1998,

Information about the conpany’s operating segments can be found in note Y,
"Segnent Information," on pages 89 through 93. This note provides additional
information, including a description of the products and services of each
segment, as well as financial data pertaining to each segment.

The following discussion is based on the Consolidated Financial Statements on
pages 64 through 68, which reflect, in all material respects, the conpany’s
segment results on an external basis.

Har dwar e

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Revenve 7.0 $5.419 $36, 630
Cost 27,071 24,214 23,473
Goss profit s9.00 s1.205 $13, 157
Goss profit mrgin %% e %, 9%

Hardwar e revenue increased 4.6 percent from1998, following a decline of 3.3
percent in 1998 versus 1997. Hardware gross profit dollars declined 11.0 percent
from 1998, following a decrease of 14.8 percent in 1998 from 1997,

Technol ogy revenue increased 5.9 percent when conpared with 1998, following an
increase of 7.3 percent in 1998 versus 1997. Strong growh in CEM technol ogy,
primarily custom!|ogic and hi gh-performance static random access menory (SRAM
revenue drove the increase in 1999 revenue. A slower growth rate in hard disk
drive (HDD) storage revenue in 1999 versus 1998 reflected pricing pressures and
a revenue nix away fromhigh-end products. Lower revenues fromstorage tape and
direct access storage device (DASD) products, as well as |ower networking
hardware revenue, partially offset those increases. The networking hardware
decreases resulted, in part, fromthe sale of routing and switching intellectual
property (IP) to Gsco Systens, Inc.

The conpany took actions in 1999 in the nicroelectronics and storage areas that
are aimed directly at strengthening the Technol ogy Group over the long term
Those actions are intended to shift the focus of the Technol ogy Goup to higher
mar gin busi nesses and nore efficient operations. (See note R "1999 Actions," on
pages 81 and 82 for additional information.)

Strong growth in HDD storage products, storage tape products and growth in
custom | ogic products drove the revenue increase in 1998 versus 1997. Lower
revenue fromdynanic random access nmenory (DRAMs) and DASD sal es partially
of fset this revenue growh.

Personal Systems revenue grew 19.7 percent in 1999 from 1998, following a 10.9
percent decline in 1998 versus 1997. Despite continued pricing pressures,



personal conputer revenue inproved in 1999. Supply shortages of flat-panel
displays in the second half of 1999 constrained sales of ThinkPads, although
overal | ThinkPad revenue was good. Netfinity servers demonstrated strong revenue
growth, conpared with 1998 |evels. The company continues to focus on expanding
its direct channel custoners; inproving its indirect channel efficiency;
increasing its attention on fast-growing, small- and mediumsize businesses; and
realizing more opportunity in businesses that are tied to the personal conputer,
including services, software and financing.
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Server revenue declined 17.9 percent in 1999 from 1998, following a decrease of
5.9 percent in 1998 versus 1997. S/ 390 revenue declined in 1999 as custoners
conpleted the task of making Y2K ready the mainframe conputers that they use in
data centers to run mission critical, highly integrated enterprise-wide
applications with large transaction volumes. Once the systems were Y2K tested
and ready, customers were not inclined to enhance them because of concerns about
affecting their Y2K readiness. AS/400 revenue declined due to a slowdown in
sales related to Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) solutions because of Y2K
concerns. RS/ 6000 revenue declined for SP-2 and entry nmodels, partially of fset
by the enterprise servers which had strong revenue growth in 1999.

Lower revenue from §/ 390, AS/400 and RS/6000 drove the 5.9 percent decrease in
revenue in 1998 versus 1997. Vhile S/ 390 revenue declined, total delivery of
conputing power increased more than 60 percent as measured in MPS (nillions of
instructions per second) versus 1997. Product transitions late in 1998 affected
the revenue for AS/400 and RS/6000 in 1998 versus 1997.

I'n January 2000, the Server Goup reorganized to become the Enterprise Systens
Goup and adopted a market-centric alignment to help customers connect and
integrate S/390, AS/400, RS/6000, NUMA-Q and Netfinity servers to support a
wider variety of applications. The reorganized group will focus on cross-server
customer requirements for Wb servers, enterprise servers, md-market servers,
and for storage subsystems across all conputing environments.

During the year, the conpany signed major technology contracts with Dell
Conputer Corporation (for the purchase of personal conputer parts fromthe
conpany over seven years), Acer Incorporated (technology purchase contract over
seven years), EMC Corporation (five-year strategic technology and business
alliance), Gisco Systems, Inc. (technology purchase over five years) and
Nintendo Conpany, Ltd. (nulti-year contract to purchase technol ogy). The total
of these contracts could be in excess of $15 billion.

Hardware gross profit dollars decreased 11.0 percent in 1999 from 1998,
following a 14.8 percent decrease in 1998 versus 1997. In 1999, the shift in the
conpany’ s revenue away from servers, pricing pressures associated with HDDs and
menory chip prices drove the declines in gross profit dollars from1998. A | ower
model mix in the mobile HDDs (in which some custoners are neeting their capacity
needs with new mid-range products, rather than with the nore profitable high-end
nobi | e products) al so had a negative effect on gross profit dollars. The decline
ingross profit dollars in 1998 was primarily driven by |ower margins associated
with significant price reductions in Personal Systems products.

Har dware gross profit margin decreases in 1999 versus 1998 and 1998 versus 1997
continued to be driven by the shift in the conpany’s revenue away from servers
to lower gross profit products, such as personal conputers, CEM chip technol ogy
and HDDs, as well as price pressures.

@ obal Services

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Revenve s2.12 8,96 $25, 166
Cost 23,304 21,125 18, 464
Goss profit s8.88 st $ 6,702
Goss profit mrgin aew %o 26. 6%

G obal Services revenue increased 11.3 percent in 1999 from 1998 and 14.9
percent in 1998 over 1997. Revenue growth in 1999 without the effect of the sale
of the company’s Gobal Network to AT&T would have been 13 percent. (See note D,
"Acqui sitions/Divestitures," on pages 72 and 73 for additional information about
this sale.)

Vi | e mai ntenance revenues declined 1 percent, reflecting continued price
pressures as customers transitioned to new technol ogies, services revenue
excluding maintenance and the effect of the sale of the G obal Network grew 17
percent. Strategic Qutsourcing Services was a major contributor to this
performance. Strategi ¢ Qutsourcing Services creates business val ue through
long-termstrategi c partnerships with custonmers by taking on responsibility for
their processes and systens. Business Innovation Services (formerly Systens
Integration and Consulting) and Integrated Technol ogy Services (formerly Product
Support Services) performance was strong through the first nine months of 1999
but slowed in the fourth quarter due to the effect of Y2K-related custoner

| ockdowns and a sl owdown in Y2K servi ces.
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Toward the end of the third quarter of 1999, the conpany started to see a
decline in demand for Y2K services and expects the effect of Y2K to linger into
2000 as the need for those services disappears. The conpany sees growing demand
for new services offerings especially in Business Innovation Services, which
provi des business/industry consulting and end-to-end e-business inplenentation
of offerings Iike Supply Chain Minagement, Customer Relationship Management,
Enterprise Resource Planning and Business Intelligence. Integrated Technol ogy
Services offers custoners a single IT partner to manage multi-vendor |T systenms
conplexity in today's e-business environnent, including traditional offerings
like Product Support Services, Business Recovery Services, Site and Connectivity
Services and Systems Management and Networking Services.

e-busi ness spans many of the G obal Services offerings and contributed
significantly to 1999 performance. e-business services offerings include:
e-business strategy and planning; e-commerce services for Wb selling,
e-payments, e-procurenent, security and privacy; e-business enabl enent services;
distributed learning; and hosted business applications such as network-delivered
applications, Vb hosting and Wb infrastructure outsourcing. The conpany’s
total discrete e-business services revenue grew 60 percent to over $3 billionin
1999. Revenue from Wb hosting and e-business infrastructure services doubl ed
over 1998 and revenue fromsupply chain and e-procurenent services tripled.

I'n 1999, the conpany signed contracts totaling over $38 billion, including 46
deal's in excess of $100 nillion with four of those deals in excess of $1
billion. These deals contributed to a services backlog at Decenber 31, 1999, in
excess of $60 billion conpared with $51 billion at Decenber 31, 1998. In
addition to these contracts, the conmpany signed two extensive strategic
alliances with Dell Computer Corporation and Cisco Systems, Inc. The conpany
continued to nmeet the demand for its services by hiring more than 17,000

enpl oyees in 1999 and 18,000 enpl oyees in 1998.

Goss profit dollars and gross profit margins inproved in 1999 over 1998.
Significant productivity inprovenents nore than offset conpetitive pressures and
the negative effect of the changing nix of services and maintenance within the
G obal Services portfolio.

Sof t war e

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Revenve si2662 s1,863 $11, 164
Cost 2,240 2,260 2,785
Goss profit s0.42 59603 $ 8,379
Goss profit mrgin % 0.9 75 1%

Software revenue increased 6.7 percent in 1999 from 1998, following an increase
of 6.3 percent from1997. The conpany’s niddl eware products (which conprise, for
both 1BM and non-1BM platforns, data managenent, transaction processing, Tivoli
systems management and Lotus Notes messaging and col | aboration) had revenue
growth of 12 percent in 1999 and 9 percent in 1998. The company continues to
focus on hel ping customers use its software to transformtheir businesses into
e-busi nesses, particularly in collaboration with the conpany’s G obal Services
and channel partners.

The conpany’s nmiddl eware products continued their momentum due to the conpany’s
ability to integrate; the growing participation on non-1BMplatforms and the
expandi ng market coverage as nore partnerships were formed with Independent
Software Vendors, Wb integrators and service providers; and a dedicated sal es
force of 6,600 people.

Qperating systens software revenue declined 4 percent in 1999 and increased 3
percent in 1998 when compared with previous periods. The decline in 1999 was
driven by |ower revenue in AS/400. The 1998 increase was driven by higher AS/ 400
operating systems revenue versus 1997.

Software gross profit dollars increased 8.5 percent in 1999 from 1998, following
an increase of 14.6 percent in 1998 from 1997. Increased revenue and | ower
level s of anortization costs associated with previously deferred software

devel opment spending drove the inprovement, partially offset by higher vendor
royalty payments due primarily to increased vol unes.
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@ obal Financing

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Revenve $137 2.8 2,806
Cost 1,446 1,494 1,448
Goss protit sLeol s.33 $1, 356
Goss profit mrgin B ww 8. 4%

G obal Financing revenue increased 9.0 percent in 1999 from 1998, following an
increase of 2.5 percent in 1998 versus 1997. Gowh in working capital
financing, along with continued growth in financing of software and services,
drove the revenue increase in 1999. Financing originations increased to
approximtely $43 billion, with year-to-year growh in working capital
financing, along with software and services financing. The revenue increase in
1998 over 1997 was due to inproved sales of used equi pment and growth in

sof tware and services financing, offset by a decline in working capital
financing.

Goss profit dollars increased 22.3 percent in 1999 versus 1998, fol | owing an
increase of 1.8 percent in 1998 over 1997. The increase in 1999 reflects G obal
Financing's ongoing strategy to increase its use of the conpany's @ obal
Treasury Centers rather than external banks as a funding source and | ower costs
of borrowing. The increase in gross profit dollars in 1998 versus 1997 was
primarily due to increased revenue and a higher gross profit marginin the US.
mar ket s.

Enterprise Investments/C her

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Revenve 2.5% 252 $2,742
Cost 1,558 1,702 1,729
Goss protit s o s 80 $1, 013
Goss profit mrgin Bew W 3%. 9%

Enterprise Investments/ Qther revenue decreased 2.2 percent from 1998, follow ng
a decrease of 5.5 percent in 1998 from 1997. The decrease was driven by | ower
revenue fromdiscontinued product |ines, such as automated teller machines
(ATMs), partially offset by growh in point-of-sale terminals and conputer-aided
three-di nensi onal interactive application (CATIA) software. The decrease in 1998
versus 1997 was primarily a result of lower software revenue, partially offset
by higher revenue from point-of-sale termnals.

The gross profit dollars fromEnterprise Investnents/Qher increased 9.9 percent
in 1999 versus 1998, following a decrease of 12.1 percent in 1998 versus 1997
The increase in 1999 gross profit dollars and gross profit margin was primarily
driven by an inproving gross profit margin for point-of-sale terninals and
software. The decline in 1998 gross profit dollars and gross profit margin was
primarily driven by the lower software revenue versus 1997.

Qperating Expenses

(Dollars in millions) 1999 1998 1997
Selling, general and

administrative $ 14,729 $ 16, 662 $ 16,634
Percentage of revenue 16. 8% 20. 4% 21. 2%
Research, devel opnent

and engi neering $ 5273 $ 5,046 $ 4,877
Percentage of revenue 6. 0% 6. 2% 6.2%

Selling, general and admnistrative (SGRA) expense declined 11.6 percent in 1999
versus 1998 and was essentially flat in 1998 with 1997. The decrease in 1999
reflects the net pre-tax benefit associated with the sale of the Gobal Network
and the actions taken by the company in 1999 to inprove its conpetitiveness and
to strengthen further the conpany’s overall business portfolio. (See note D,
"Acqui sitions/Divestitures," on pages 72 and 73, and note R "1999 Actions," on
pages 81 and 82 for further informtion.)



The conpany continues to manage aggressively its infrastructure expense and its
overal | portfolio to allowfor investment in growh areas of the business. Key
ongoi ng investments include software marketing, major marketing canpaigns, and
new of ferings for small and medi um business opportunities, as well as the
e-busi ness canpaign. These types of expenditures are consistent with the
conpany’ s ongoing objective of growing revenue while inmproving the
expense-to-revenue ratio over tine.

Research, devel opment and engineering expense increased 4.5 percent in 1999 from
1998, following an increase of 3.5 percent in 1998 from 1997. The increase in
1999 reflects additional expenses associated with the acquisition of Sequent
Conputer Systems, Inc., Mylex Corporation and DASCOM Inc. Those acquisitions
are intended to inprove the conpany's |ong-term



=DOCUMENT 4 PAGE 9============ (PD 13- MAR- 2000 18: 45: 47)
=EFW 2004620
<PAGE>

57

managenent di scussi on

International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es

conpetitiveness in the server, storage and \eb-security markets, respectively.
(See note D, "Acquisitions/Divestitures," on pages 72 and 73 for further detail
about the in-process research and devel opment charge.) In addition, the
increases in both 1999 and 1998 reflect the company’s continued investments in
hi gh-growth opportunities like e-business, Tivoli systems managenent and Lotus
products, as well as the effect of ongoing research, devel opment and engineering
expense associ ated with new acquisitions.

As a result of its ongoing research and devel opment efforts, the conpany
received 2,756 patents in 1999, placing it nunber one in patents granted in the
U S for the seventh consecutive year. The application of these technol ogical
advances transforms the conpany’s research and devel opment into new products.
Exampl es of these efforts range from new e-business sol utions to innovative
manuf act uring techniques. A patent for perforning conputer-based online comerce
using an intelligent agent will play a mjor role in future e-business. This
patent enables custoners to use intelligent software agents to negotiate for
services frommltiple providers. The intelligent agents take into account both
the availability of the requested service, such as airline seats, and the
providers’ business policies, such as those on cancellations. The agents commit
to services with the most flexible policies first, giving the user the greatest
possible protection. Wth respect to manufacturing technol ogies, the
silicon-on-insulator (SQ) chip technology can reduce power consunmption and
inprove chip performance. A new patent in 1999 defines processing inprovenents
that increase the efficiency and reduce the cost of manufacturing SO chips.
This technology will be crucial in the industry's devel opment of a new class of
"pervasive conputing" devices, handheld and enbedded products such as smart
phones, and Internet appliances that business professionals and consuners will
rely on for easy access to e-husiness data and services.

See note Y, "Segnent Information," on pages 89 through 93 for additional
information about the pre-tax income of each segment, as well as the

et hodol ogi es enpl oyed by the conpany to allocate shared expenses to the
segnents.

Provision for Incone Taxes

The provision for income taxes resulted in an effective tax rate of 34.4 percent
for 1999, conpared with the 1998 effective tax rate of 30.0 percent and a 1997
effective tax rate of 32.5 percent. The 4.4 point increase fromthe 1998 rate is
the result of the conpany’s sale of its Gobal Network business to AT&T and
various other actions inplenented during 1999. (See note D,

"Acqui sitions/Divestitures," on pages 72 and 73 and note R "1999 Actions," on
pages 81 and 82 for further detail regarding the tax inpacts of these itens.)
The reduction in the 1998 tax rate versus 1997 reflects the conpany’s continued
expansion into markets with |ower effective tax rates.

The conpany accounts for income taxes under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," which provides that a
val uation al I owance should be recognized to reduce the deferred tax asset to the
amount that is nore likely than not to be realized. In assessing the likelihood
of realization, management considered estimtes of future taxable incone.

Fourth Quarter

For the quarter ended December 31, 1999, the conpany had revenue of $24.2
billion, a decrease of 3.8 percent fromthe same period in 1998. Net incone in
the fourth quarter was $2.1 billion ($1.12 per diluted comon share), conpared
with net income of $2.3 billion ($1.24 per diluted conmon share) in the fourth
quarter of 1998.

Revenue for the fourth quarter of 1999 fromthe conpany’s end-user businesses
totaled $10.4 billion fromthe Americas, a decrease of 3.7 percent (2 percent
decrease in constant currency) compared with the sane period |ast year. Revenue
from Europe/ M ddl e East/Africa was $7.2 billion, down 15.0 percent (6 percent
decrease in constant currency). Asia Pacific revenue grew 12.3 percent (2
percent increase in constant currency) to $4.4 billion. OEMrevenue across all
geographies was $2.2 billion, a 12.5 percent increase (12 percent in constant
currency) conpared with the fourth quarter of 1998.
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Har dware revenue declined 10.7 percent (10 percent in constant currency) to
$10.2 billion fromthe 1998 fourth quarter. Y2K-related declines in custoner
demand were a significant factor behind fourth-quarter revenue decreases in
§/390, AS/400, RS/ 6000 and personal conputers. However, within the conpany’s
server famly, Netfinity PC revenues increased significantly, as did revenues
from RS/ 6000 nid-range servers, including the advanced RS/ 6000 Mbdel S80.
Mcroel ectronics revenues increased substantially, principally due to growth in
custom | ogi ¢ shipnents. Shipnents of the conpany’s new "Shark" disk storage
product were strong in the quarter, although overall storage revenues declined
largely as a result of ongoing price pressures in HDDs. The overal | hardware
gross profit margin declined to 26.6 percent from 34.2 percent.

G obal Services revenue grew 2.0 percent (4 percent in constant currency) versus
the fourth quarter of 1998. Strategic CQutsourcing showed good growth versus the
fourth quarter of 1998. Networking Services declined year to year due to the
sale of the Gobal Network to AT&T during 1999, while revenue fromthe other
categories of services was flat or declined as a result of the Y2K-related

sl owdown. The company’s services unit signed nore than $10 billion in services
contracts in the quarter. Revenue from maintenance of ferings was essentially
flat when conpared with the fourth quarter of 1998.

Software revenue totaled $3.6 billion, up 1.7 percent (6 percent in constant
currency) over the prior year's final quarter. Mddleware--which is critical for
e-busi ness--grew 8 percent (13 percent at constant currency), with record fourth
guarter shipments of Lotus Notes and Domino groupware products and strong
performance in database, transaction processing, and Tivoli system managenent
software. The software gross profit margin inproved 1.1 points year over year to
83.4 percent.

G obal Financing revenue increased 19.3 percent (22 percent in constant
currency) versus the same period of 1998, and Enterprise Investments/Q her
declined 13.3 percent (10 percent in constant currency) conpared with 1998's
fourth quarter. The revenue decline in Enterprise Investments/Cther resulted
fromthe conmpany’s strategy to withdraw fromcertain businesses, such as ATM.

The conpany's overal | gross profit margin in the fourth quarter was 36.7
percent, conpared with 39.0 percent in the year-earlier period. The decrease was
primarily due to a drop in the hardware margin of 7.6 points fromthe fourth
guarter 1998 across S/390 and AS/ 400 servers, storage and personal computer
products. This decrease was partially offset by inproved margins for services
and software in the fourth quarter of 1999 versus the same period in 1998.

Total fourth-quarter 1999 expense declined 9.3 percent when conpared with the
fourth quarter of 1998. The decline reflects lower revenue-related expenses due
to the slowdown that is included in the fourth quarter results. The quarter also
reflected expenses associated with infrastructure reductions in areas such as
Sales and Distribution, Personal Systens and Server Goup, which offset a gain
associated with the sale to Gsco Systems, Inc. of certain [BMintellectual
property. The expense-to-revenue ratio in the fourth quarter of 1999 was 24.4
percent, conpared with 25.9 percent in the year-earlier period.

The conpany’s tax rate was 30.0 percent in the fourth quarter, compared with
28.9 percent in the fourth quarter of 1998.

The conpany spent approximately $2.1 billion on common share repurchases in the
fourth quarter. The average number of shares outstanding in the fourth quarter
of 1999 was 1,793.0 million, conpared with 1,839.5 nillion in the year-earlier
period. The average nunber of shares outstanding for purposes of cal culating
diluted earnings per share was 1,847.8 nillion in the fourth quarter of 1999
versus 1,894.3 nillion in the fourth quarter of 1998.

Financial Condition

During 1999, the conpany continued to make significant investments to fund
future growh and increase sharehol der val ue, spending $5,806 nillion for
research, development and engineering; $4,346 nillion for plant and other
property, including machines used in strategic outsourcing contracts; $1,613
mllion for machines on operating |eases with customers; $1,542 nillion for
strategic acquisitions; and $7,280 nillion for the repurchase of the company’s
conmon shares. The conpany had $5,831 nillion in cash and cash equival ents and
market abl e securities at Decenber 31, 1999.

The conpany has access to global funding sources. During 1999, the company
issued debt in a variety of geographies to a diverse set of investors, including
significant funding in the United States, Japan and Europe. The funding has a



wide range of maturities fromshort-termcomercial paper to |ong-term debt.
More information about company debt is provided in note J, "Debt," on page 74.
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I'n Decenber 1993, the company entered into a $10 billion comitted gl obal credit
facility to enhance the liquidity of funds. This facility was anended in
February 1997, and extended to February 2002. As of Decenber 31, 1999, $8,562
mllion was unused and availabl e.

The conpany menaged assets of $273 nillion and $864 nillion at December 31, 1999
and 1998, respectively, fromthe securitization of |oans, |eases and trade

recei vabl es. For additional information, see note |, "Sale and Securitization of
Receivabl es," on page 74.

The mgjor rating agencies have continued their review of the company’s financial
condition. None of the agencies announced a change in rating in 1999. Standard
and Poor’s rates the conpany and its rated subsidiaries’ senior |ong-term debt
as A+, the commercial paper as A-1 and IBMs preferred stock as A

Moody' s Investors Service rates the senior long-termdebt of the company and its
rated subsidiaries as Al, the comercial paper as Prime-1, and the conpany’'s
preferred stock as "al."

Fitch Investors Service rates the conpany and its rated subsidiaries’ senior
long-termdebt as AA-, comercial paper as F-1+, and preferred stock as At.

Duff & Phelps rates the conpany and its rated subsidiaries’ senior long-term
debt as At, commercial paper as Duff 1, and the conpany’s preferred stock as A

Cash Fl ows
The conpany's cash flows fromoperating, investing and financing activities, as

reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on page 68, are summarized
inthe following table:

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Net cash provided from
(used in):
Qperating activities $ 10,111 $ 9,273 $ 8 865
Investing activities (1,669) (6,131) (6,155)
Financing activities (8,625) (4,993) (3,090)

Effect of exchange rate
changes on cash and

cash equival ents (149) 120 (201)
Net change in cash and

cash equival ents $ (332 $ (1,731) $ (581)
Working Capital

(Dol lars in mllions)

At Decenber 31: 1999 1998
Qrrent assets 3,155 $42, 360
Current liabilities 39,578 36, 827
Wrking capital s357 5 5,53
Qrrent ratio Lol Li51

Current assets increased $795 million, driven primarily by increases of $837
mllion in accounts receivable, $227 nillion in prepaid expenses and ot her
current assets and $63 million in cash and cash equival ents and marketable
securities, offset by a decrease of $332 million in inventories. The increase in
accounts receivable is due to strong global financing activity in the software
and services businesses across all geographies. The increase in prepaid expenses
and other current assets is due to increases in deferred tax assets from
year-end 1998. The increase in cash and cash equival ents and marketabl e
securities resulted primarily fromcash generated fromoperations and the net
proceeds fromthe sale of the conpany’s G obal Network, offset by stock
repurchases, capital expenditures and strategic acquisitions

The conpany ended 1999 with inventories of $4,868 nmillion, the |owest |evel
since 1983, due to continued focus on inventory management process inprovenents,
notably in Personal Systems. These inprovements increased the conpany’s



inventory turnover to 5.9 in 1999 from5.3 in 1998.

Current liabilities increased $2,751 million fromyear-end 1998 with increases
of $1,667 nillion in taxes payable, $325 million in short-termdebt and $759
mllion in other current liabilities. The increase in other current liabilities
resulted fromincreases in accounts payable ($148 nillion), conmpensation and
benefits ($310 nillion), and deferred income ($414 million), and a $113 million
decrease in other accrued expenses and liabilities. The increase in taxes
payabl e primarily reflects inprovenents in the conpany’s results associated with
the sale of the conpany's Gobal Network to AT&T. Short-term debt increased to
support the growth of global financing assets. The increase in other current
liabilities was primarily related to deferred income, mainly advanced billings
for software.
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The conpany’s investments for plant, rental machines and other property were
$5,959 nillion for 1999, a decrease of $561 nillion from1998. The conpany
continues to invest significantly inits rapidly growing services business,
primarily in the management of customers’ information technology, and in
manuf act uring capacity for HDDs and microel ectronics.

In addition to software devel opnent expenses included in research, devel opment
and engineering, the conpany capitalized $464 nillion of software costs during
1999, an increase of $214 nmillion fromthe 1998 period. The increase resulted
primarily fromthe adoption by the conpany as of January 1, 1999, of the
Anerican Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position (SOP)
98-1, "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Devel oped or Chbtained for
Internal Use." The SCP requires the capitalization of internal use conputer
software if certain criteria are met. The conpany anortizes the capitalized
costs over two years. Anortization of capitalized software costs (both internal
use and |icensed programs) was $426 million in 1999, a decline of $91 mllion
from 1998.

Investments and sundry assets were $26,087 million at the end of 1999, an
increase of $2,577 million from1998, primarily the result of increases in
prepaid pension assets, customer |oan receivables-not yet due, and alliance
investments, which include investments in high-growh-potential technol ogy
conpanies. See note G "Investnments and Sundry Assets," on page 73 for

addi tional information.

Debt and Equity

(Dollars in mllions) 1999 1998
Non- gl obal financing debt $ 1,555 $ 1,659
@ obal financing debt 26, 799 27,754
Total debt $28, 354 $29, 413
St ockhol ders’ equity $20, 511 $19, 433
Debt/ capitalization 58. 0% 60. 2%
EBI TDA/ I nterest expense 9x 8x
Non-gl obal financi ng:

Debt/ capitalization 9.0% 9.9%

EBI TDA/ I nterest expense 19x 15x
@ obal financing debt/equity 5.5:1 6.5:1

Because a financing business has a different capital structure than a technol ogy
busi ness, the company’s debt and key financial ratios are calculated on both a
global financing and non-global financing basis.

Total debt decreased $1,059 million fromyear-end 1998 as debt supporting the
growth of global financing assets decreased $955 nillion and non-gl obal
financing debt decreased $104 nillion.

Stockhol ders’ equity increased $1,078 nillion to $20,511 million at Decenber 31,
1999, primarily due to the increase in retained earnings and accumil ated gains
and | osses not affecting retained earnings, partially offset by the conpany’s
ongoi ng stock repurchase program (See note N, "Stockhol ders’ Equity Activity,"
on pages 78 and 79.)

The ratio of non-global financing earnings before interest and taxes plus
depreciation and anortization (EBITDA) to non-global financing interest expense,
adjusted for future gross mninmmrental comitnents, was 19x and 15x in 1999
and 1998, respectively. EBITDA is a useful indicator of the conpany’s ability to
service its debt.

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Changes in the relative values of non-US. currencies to the U S dollar affect
the conpany’s results. At December 31, 1999, currency changes resulted in assets
and liabilities denominated in local currencies being translated into fewer
dollars than at year-end 1998. The currency rate changes had minimal effect on
1999 revenue growth, but had an unfavorable effect on 1998 and 1997 revenue
growth of approximately 2 percent and 5 percent, respectively.



I'n high-inflation environments, translation adjustnents are reflected in period
income, as required by SFAS No. 52, "Foreign Currency Translation." Generally
the conpany limits currency risk in these countries by Iinking prices and
contracts to U S. dollars, financing operations locally and entering into
foreign currency hedge contracts

The conpany uses a variety of financial hedging instruments to limt specific
currency risks related to global financing transactions and the repatriation of
dividends and royal ties. Further discussion of currency and hedging appears in
note L, "Financial Instruments," on pages 75 through 77.
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Market Ri sk

In the normal course of business, the financial position of the conpany
routinely is subject to a variety of risks. In addition to the market risk
associated with interest rate and currency movenents on outstanding debt and
non-U.S. dollar denoninated assets and liabilities, other examples of risk
include collectibility of accounts receivable and recoverability of residua
val ues on |eased assets

The conpany regularly assesses all of these risks and has established policies
and business practices to protect against the adverse effects of these and other
potential exposures. As a result, the conpany does not anticipate any materia

| osses fromthese risks

The conpany’s debt in support of the global financing business and the
geographi ¢ breadth of the conpany's operations contain an el ement of market risk
fromchanges in interest and currency rates. The conpany manages this risk, in
part, through the use of a variety of financial instruments including
derivatives, as explained in note L, "Financial Instruments,” on pages 75
through 77.

For purposes of specific risk analysis, the company uses sensitivity analysis to
deternmine the effects that market risk exposures may have on the fair values of
the conpany’s debt and other financial instrunments

The financial instruments that are included in the sensitivity analysis conprise
all of the conpany’s cash and cash equival ents, marketable securities, |ong-term
non- | ease receivabl es, investments, |ong-termand short-termdebt and al
derivative financial instruments. The conpany's portfolio of derivative
financial instruments includes interest rate swaps, interest rate options
foreign currency swaps, forward contracts and foreign currency option contracts

To performsensitivity analysis, the conpany assesses the risk of loss in fair
values fromthe effect of hypothetical changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates on market sensitive instruments. The market values for
interest and foreign currency exchange risk are conputed based on the present
value of future cash flows as affected by the changes in rates that are
attributable to the market risk that is being measured

The conpany selected the discount rates that it used for the present val ue
conputations based on market interest and foreign currency exchange rates in
effect at December 31, 1999 and 1998. The differences in this conparison are the
hypot hetical gains or |osses associated with each type of risk

Information provided by the sensitivity analysis does not necessarily represent
the actual changes in fair value that the conpany woul d incur under norma

market conditions because, due to practical limtations, all variables other
than the specific market risk factor are held constant. In addition, the results
of the model are constrained by the fact that certain items are specifically
excluded fromthe analysis, while the financial instruments that relate to the
financing or hedging of those itens are included by definition. Excluded itens
include |eased assets, forecasted foreign currency cash flows, and the conpany’'s
net investment in foreign operations. As a consequence, the reported changes in
the values of some financial instruments that affect the results of the
sensitivity analysis are not matched with the offsetting changes in the val ues
of the itens that those instruments are designed to finance or hedge

The results of the sensitivity analysis at Decenber 31, 1999, and Decenber 31
1998, are as fol | ows:

Interest Rate Risk: As of Decenber 31, 1999, a 10 percent decrease in the levels
of interest rates with all other variables held constant would result in a
decrease in the fair value of the conpany’s financial instruments of $164
mllion as conpared with a decrease of $322 million as of Decenber 31, 1998. A
10 percent increase in the levels of interest rates with all other variables
hel d constant woul d result in an increase in the fair value of the conpany's
financial instrunents of $145 nillion as conpared with an increase of $282
mllion as of December 31, 1998. Changes in the relative sensitivity of the fair
val ue of the company's financial instrument portfolio for these theoretica
changes in the level of interest rates primarily are driven by changes in the
conpany’s debt maturity and interest rate profile and amount. In 1999 versus
1998, the reported decline in interest rate sensitivity primarily is due to the
effect of increased activity in receive fixed/pay floating interest rate swaps
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk: As of Decenber 31, 1999, a 10 percent
decrease or increase in the levels of foreign currency exchange rates against
the U.S. dollar with all other variables held constant would result in a
decrease in the fair value of the conpany’s financial instruments of $1,319
mllion or an increase in the fair value of the conpany’s financial instruments
of $1,340 million, respectively, conpared with a decrease of $597 million or an
increase of $855 million, respectively, as of Decenber 31, 1998. The change in
the relative sensitivity of the fair market value of the conpany’s financia
instrument portfolio to the level of foreign currency exchange rates primarily
is driven by anincrease in the overall level of net foreign investnent hedging
activity as well as by an increase in the use of foreign currency forwards in
lieu of foreign currency options to hedge the company’s various foreign currency
exposures in accordance with the conpany’s established risk managenent

practices. As the effect of offsetting changes in the fair market value of the
conpany’s net foreign investnents are not included in the sensitivity nodel, the
results of the analysis do not indicate an increase in the company’s actual
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk

Fi nancing Risks

Gobal financing is an integral part of the conpany’s total worldwide of ferings
Inherent in global financing are certain risks, including credit, interest rate
currency and residual value. The company manages credit risk through
conprehensive credit eval uations and pricing practices. To manage the risks
associated with an uncertain interest rate environment, the conpany pursues a
funding strategy of substantially matching the terms of its debt with the terms
of its assets. Currency risks are managed by denominating liabilities in the
sane currency as the assets

Resi dual value risk is managed by developing projections of future equi pnent

val ues at Iease inception, reevaluating these projections periodically, and
effectively deploying remarketing capabilities to recover residual values and
potentially earn a profit. Remarketing efforts consistently have generated
profits. The following table depicts an approximation of the unguaranteed
residual value maturities for the conpany’s sales-type |eases, as well as a
projection of the remaining net hook value of machines on operating |eases at
the end of the lease terns as of December 31, 1997, 1998 and 1999. The fol | owi ng
tabl e excludes approximately $34 million of estimated residual value associated
with non-information technol ogy equi pment

beyond

<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>

Tot al Run Qut of 1999 Bal ance
(Dollars in mllions) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
<S> <C <C <C <C <C <C
Sal es-type | eases $ 563 $ 685 $ 737 $ 209 $ 301 $ 198
Qperating |eases 701 731 609 319 197 87
Total residual value $1, 264 $1, 416 $1, 346 $ 528 $ 498 $ 285

</ TABLE>
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Enpl oyees and Rel ated Workforce
Percent age
Changes
1999 1998 1997 1999- 98 1998-97
| BM whol | y
owned
subsi diari es 307, 401 291, 067 269, 465 5.6 8.0
Less than
whol 'y owned
subsidi ari es 17,176 21,704 20,751 (20.9) 4.6
Conpl enent ary 29, 800 36, 900 43,000 (19.2) (14.2)

| BM enpl oyees, including whol |y owned subsidiaries, increased by nore than
16,000 in 1999. The growth areas of the company, G obal Services and the

Sof tware Group, continue to drive the increase; G obal Services hired
approximately 17,000 in 1999. Acquisitions also contributed to the increase. The
conpany al so continues to reduce its infrastructure and to withdraw fromcertain
busi nesses, thereby offsetting some of the growh. For exanple, during 1999, |BM
soldits Gobal Network to AT&T, resulting in the loss of about 5,300 enployees

The decrease in enployees in the less than whol Iy owned subsidiaries over the
last year reflects a number of entities that were converted to a wholly owned
status, such as G obal Services in India and MCRUS in the U.S., or divested
during the year. Partially offsetting the decrease was continued growh in

@ obal Services, notably in Australia, and in a number of subsidiaries in China

The conpany’s conpl ementary workforce is an approximation of equival ent
full-time enployees hired under tenmporary, part-time and |inited-term enpl oynent
arrangenments to meet specific business needs in a flexible and cost-effective
manner .

Year 2000

The issues raised by the transition to the Year 2000 presented a pervasive and
unprecedented gl obal challenge to IBM its customers, partners, suppliers and
enpl oyees, as well as to governments, conmunities and individuals. The conpany
believes that the overall uneventful arrival of the Year 2000 is testimony to
the hard work and investment of organizations and individuals around the world

Wth respect to the conpany’s own operations, it prepared more than one nillion
critical items for the transition, including PCs and servers, application
software, and manufacturing tools and instruments. In addition, 2,500 suppliers
750 business partners and 200 subsidiaries were assessed for risk nitigation

pl anning purposes. The conpany estimates that it will have spent approximtely
$500 million over a multi-year period in these efforts, including conversion
testing and contingency planning

Over the past five years, the conpany undertook numerous initiatives to help
customers prepare for the Year 2000 including contacting custonmers around the
world to help promote awareness of Year 2000 issues; developing a range of
service offerings and tools to help customers assess, devel op and execute plans
to make their systems Year 2000 ready; and making the conpany’'s own current
hardware and software offerings Year 2000 ready. To illustrate the extent of the
conpany’s efforts, nore than one million customers used the conpany’s technical
support Year 2000 Wb site; and the conpany’s G obal Services organization
processed more than one billion lines of custoner code. Further, the conpany
found that a large number of its enterprise custoners |ocked down their
information technol ogy systens and postponed technol ogy purchases heading into
the Year 2000 transition, which adversely affected the conpany’s business
performance during the second half of 1999. See the Results of Operations and
Financial Condition sections within the Minagement Discussion for further

i nformation

In the near term the conpany recognizes the need to maintainits vigilance in
the event Y2K issues do arise. Further, some comentators believe that a
significant amunt of litigation will arise from Year 2000 issues. The conpany
continues to believe that it has good defenses to any such potential clains
brought against it.

The Year 2000 statenents set forth above are designated as "Year 2000 Readiness
Di sclosures" pursuant to the Year 2000 Information and Readiness Disclosure Act
(P.L. 105-271).
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<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
(Dol lars in mllions except per share amounts)
For the year ended Decenber 31 Not es 1999 1998 1997
<S> < < <G
Revenue:
Har dwar e $37,041  $35,419  $36, 630
@ obal Services 32,172 28,916 25,166
Sof t ware 12,662 11,863 11,164
@ obal Financing 3,137 2,877 2, 806
Enterprise I nvestnents/Q her 2,536 2,592 2,742
Total revenue 87,548 81,667 78,508
Cost
Har dwar e 27,071 24,214 23,473
A obal Services 23,304 21,125 18,464
Sof t war e 2,240 2,260 2,785
@ obal Financing 1,446 1,494 1,448
Enterprise Investnents/Qher 1,558 1,702 1,729
Total cost 55,619 50,795 47,899
Gross profit 31,929 30,872 30,609

Qperating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative Q 14,729 16,662 16,634
Research, devel opment and engi neering S

Total operating expenses 20,002 21,708 21,511
Qperating income 11,927 9, 164 9,098
O her incone, principally interest 557 589 657
Interest expense K 727 713 728
I ncone before incone taxes 11,757 9, 040 9,027
Provision for income taxes P 4,045 2,712 2,934
Net income 7,712 6, 328 6,093
Preferred stock dividends 20 20 20
Net incone applicable to comon stockhol ders $7,692 $6308 $6073

Earnings per share of conmon stock:

Assuming dilution T $ 4.12 $3.29* $3.00%
Basi ¢ T $ 425 §$3.38¢ $3.09%
</ TABLE>

Average nunber of common shares outstanding:
Assuning dilution: 1999-1,871, 073,912; 1998-1,920, 130, 470*; 1997-2, 021, 869, 884*
Basic: 1999-1, 808, 538, 346; 1998-1, 869, 005, 570*; 1997-1, 966, 572, 722*

¥ Adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective May 10, 1999,

The acconpanying notes on pages 69 through 93 are an integral part of the
financial statements.
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<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
(Dol lars in mllions except per share amounts)
At Decenber 31 Not es 1999 1998
<S> N <C <
Asset s
Current assets:
Cash and cash equival ents $ 5043 § 5375
Market abl e securities L 788 393
Notes and accounts receivable--trade, net of allowances 20,039 18, 958
Sal es-type | eases receivable 6,220 6,510
O her accounts receivabl e 1,359 1,313
I nventories E 4, 868 5,200
Prepai d expenses and other current assets 4,838 4,611
Total current assets 43, 155 42, 360
Plant, rental machines and other property F 39,616 44,870
Less: Accunul ated depreciation 22,026 25,239
Plant, rental machines and other property--net 17,590 19, 631
Sof t war e 663 599
Investments and sundry assets G 26, 087 23,510
Total assets $ 87,495 $ 86,100
Liabilities and Stockhol ders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Taxes P $ 4792 $ 3,125
Short-term debt J&L 14,230 13, 905
Accounts payabl e 6,400 6, 252
Conpensation and benefits 3,840 3,530
Deferred incone 4,529 4,115
Other accrued expenses and |iabilities 5,787 5,900
Total current liabilities 39,578 36, 827
Long-t erm debt J&L 14,124 15, 508
Qher liabilities M 11,928 12,818
Deferred incone taxes P 1,354 1,514
Total liabilities 66, 984 66, 667
Cont i ngenci es 0
Stockhol ders’ equity: N
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share 247 247

Shares aut horized: 150, 000, 000
Shares issued and outstanding (1999 and 1998- 2, 546, 011)
Conmon stock, par value $.20* per share C 11,762 10,121
Shares authorized: 4,687,500, 000
Shares issued (1999-1, 876, 665, 245; 1998-1, 853, 738, 104*)

Retained earnings 16, 878 10, 141
Treasury stock, at cost (shares: 1999-72,449,015; 1998-1,924,293*) (7,375) (133)
Empl oyee benefits trust (shares: 1999-20, 000, 000; 1998-20, 000, 000*) (2,162) (1,854)
Accumul ated gains and |osses not affecting retained earnings 1,161 911
Total stockhol ders’ equity 20,511 19,433
Total liabilities and stockhol ders’ equity $ 87,495 $ 86,100
</ TABLE>

¥ Adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective My 10, 1999.

The acconpanying notes on pages 69 through 93 are an integral part of the
financial statenents.
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<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
Accunul at ed
Gains and
Losses Not
Enployee  Affecting
Preferred Conmon  Retained  Treasury  Benefits  Retained
(Dol lars in mllions) Stock Stock  Earnings Stock Trust Ear ni ngs Tot al
<S> <C <C <C <C <C <C <C
1997+
Stockhol ders’ equity, January 1, 1997 $ 253 $ 7,752 $11,189 $ (135 -~ $ 2,569 $ 21,628
Net income plus gains and | 0sses not
affecting retained earnings:
Net incone 6,093 $ 6,093
Gains and |osses not affecting
retained earnings (net of tax):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
(net of tax expense of $24) (1,610) (1,610
Net unrealized losses on marketable
securities (net of tax benefit of $37) (60) (60)
Total gains and | osses not affecting
retained earnings (1,670)
Subtotal : Net income plus gains and
| osses not affecting retained earnings $ 4,423
Cash dividends decl ared--common st ock (763) (763)
Cash dividends declared--preferred stock (20) (20)
Conmon stock purchased and retired
(137,554, 672** shares) (565) (5, 455) (6, 020)
Preferred stock purchased and
retired (13,450 shares) (1) (1)
Conmon stock i ssued under enpl oyee
plans (39,303, 206** shares) 985 (2) 983
Purchases (8, 254, 336** shares) and sal es
(10, 764,558** shares) of treasury stock
under enpl oyee pl ans- - net (32) 49 17
Enpl oyee benefits trust (20,000, 000** shares) (860) (860)
Tax effect--stock transactions 429 429
Stockhol ders’ equity, December 31, 1997 $ 252 § 8,601 $11,000 $ (8) $ (860) $ B899 $ 19,816
1998*
Net income plus gains and |osses not
affecting retained earnings:
Net incone 6, 328 $ 6,328
Gains and |osses not affecting
retained earnings (net of tax):
Foreign currency translation adjustnents
(net of tax benefit of $45) 69 69
Net unrealized | osses on marketable
securities (net of tax benefit of $36) (57) (57)
Total gains and | osses not affecting
retained earnings 12
Subtotal : Net income plus gains and
| osses not affecting retained earnings $ 6,340
Cash dividends decl ared- - conmon st ock (814) (814)
Cash dividends declared--preferred stock (20) (20)
Conmon stock purchased and retired
(113,993, 636** shares) (556)  (6,291) (6, 847)
Preferred stock purchased and retired
(51,250 shares) (5) (5)
Conmon stock i ssued under enpl oyee
plans (29,701, 038** shares) 709 (1) 708
Purchases (9, 100, 678** shares) and sal es
(9,024,296** shares) of treasury stock
under enpl oyee pl ans- - net (71) (47) (118)
Fair value adjustment of enployee benefits trust 1,002 (994) 8



Tax effect--stock transactions 365 365

Stockhol ders’ equity, December 31, 1998 $ 247 $10,121 $10,141 $ (133) $(1,85) $ 911 $ 19,433

</ TABLE>
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<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>

Ret ai ned
Ear ni ngs

Common
Stock

Preferred
St ock

Treasury

(Dol lars in mllions) Stock

Enpl oyee
Benefits
Trust

Accumul at ed

Gai ns and
Losses Not
Affecting
Ret ai ned
Ear ni ngs

<S> < < < <C
1999
Stockhol ders’ equity, December 31, 1998 $
Net income plus gains and | 0sses not
affecting retained earnings
Net incone

247§ 10,121 $ 10,141 $  (133)

7,712

Gains and |osses not affecting
retained earnings (net of tax):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
(net of tax expense of $180)
Net unrealized gains on nmarketabl e
securities (net of tax expense of $456)

Total gains and | osses not affecting
retained earnings

Subtotal : Net income plus gains and
| osses not affecting retained earnings

Cash dividends decl ared- - conmon st ock
Cash dividends declared--preferred stock
Treasury shares purchased, not retired
(70,711,971 shares)
Conmon stock i ssued under enpl oyee
plans (22,927,141 shares) 741 (1)
Purchases (6,418, 975 shares) and sal es
(6,606, 223 shares) of treasury stock
under enpl oyee pl ans- - net
Fair value adjustment of enployee

(859)
(20)

(7,192)

(50)

$ (1,854)

$ 911 § 19,433

(546) (546)

796 796

(145)

10
37
545

benefits trust 318
Increase due to shares issued by subsidiary 37
Tax effect--stock transactions 545
Stockhol ders’ equity, December 31, 1999 $ 247§ 11,762 $ 16,878 $ (7,375

$ (2,162)

$ 1,161 $ 20,511

</ TABLE>

¥ Reclassified to conformwith 1999 presentation

¥*  Adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective My 10, 1999
The acconpanying notes on pages 69 through 93 are an integral part of the
financial statenents.
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<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
(Dol lars in mllions)
At Decenber 31: 1999 1998* 1997+
<S> < < <>
Cash flow fromoperating activities:
Net income $ 7,712 $ 6,328 $ 6,093
Adj ust ments to reconcile net income to cash provided

fromoperating activities:
Depreciation 6, 159 4,475 4,018
Anortization of software 426 517 983
Deferred incone taxes (713) (606) 358
Gain on disposition of fixed and other assets (4,791) (261) (273)
Qther changes that (used) provided cash:

Recei vabl es (1,677) (2,736) (3,727)

I nventories 301 73 432

Other assets (130) 219 (378)

Accounts payabl e (3) 362 699

Qher liabilities 2,827 902 660
Net cash provided fromoperating activities 10,111 9,273 8, 865
Cash flow frominvesting activities:
Payments for plant, rental machines and other property (5,959) (6,520) (6,793)
Proceeds from disposition of plant, rental machines

and other property 1,207 905 1,130
Investment in software (464) (250) (314)
Purchases of marketable securities and other investments (3,949 (4,211) (1,617)
Proceeds from marketabl e securities and other investments 2,616 3,945 1,439
Proceeds fromsale of the G obal Network 4, 880 -- --
Net cash used in investing activities (1,669) (6,131) (6, 155)
Cash flow fromfinancing activities:
Proceeds from new debt 6, 133 7,567 9,142
Short-term borrowings |ess than 90 days-- net 276 499 (668)
Payments to settle debt (7,510 (5,942) (4,530)
Preferred stock transactions--net -- (5) (1)
Conmon stock transactions- - net (6, 645) (6,278) (6, 250)
Cash divi dends paid (879) (834) (783)
Net cash used in financing activities (8,625) (4,993 (3,090)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equival ents (149) 120 (201)
Net change in cash and cash equival ents (332) (1,731) (581)
Cash and cash equival ents at January 1 5,375 7,106 7,687
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 $ 5043 $ 5375 $ 7,106
Suppl enental data;
Cash paid during the year for:
I ncone taxes $ 1,904 $ 1,929 $ 2,472
I nt erest $ 1,574 $ 1,605 $ 1,475
</ TABLE>

¥ Reclassified to conformwith 1999 presentation.

The acconpanying notes on pages 69 through 93 are an integral part of the

financial statements.
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A Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Internationa

Busi ness Machines Corporation and its controlled subsidiary conpanies, whichin
general are myjority owed. Investnents in business entities in which |BM does
not have control, but has the ability to exercise significant influence over
operating and financial policies (generally 20-50 percent ownership), are
accounted for by the equity method. Cther investments are accounted for by the
cost met hod

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statenments in confornity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimtes and assunptions that
affect the amounts that are reported in the consolidated financial statements
and acconpanying disclosures. Although these estimates are bhased on managenent's
best know edge of current events and actions that the conpany may undertake in
the future, actual results may be different fromthe estinates

Revenue

The conpany recogni zes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The
conpany reduces revenue for estimated custoner returns, allowances and
anticipated price actions. The following are the specific revenue recognition
policies for each major category of revenue

HARDWARE

Revenue from hardware sales or sal es-type |eases is recognized when the product
is shipped. Revenue fromrentals and operating |eases i s recognized monthly as
the fees accrue

SERVI CES

Revenue fromtime and material service contracts is recognized as the services
are provided. Revenue fromfixed price long-termservice contracts is recogni zed
over the contract termbased on the percentage of services that are provided
during the period conpared with the total estimated services to be provided over
the entire contract. Losses on fixed price contracts are recognized during the
period in which the loss first becomes apparent. Revenue from maintenance is
recogni zed over the contractual period or as the services are performed. Revenue
in excess of billings on service contracts is recorded as unbilled receivables
and is included in trade accounts receivable. Billings in excess of revenue that
i s recogni zed on service contracts are recorded as deferred income until the
above revenue recognition criteria are met.

SOFTWARE

Revenue fromone-time charge licensed software is recognized at the inception of
the license term provided the conpany has vendor-specific objective evidence of
the fair value of each element of the software offering and the software has
been delivered. Revenue is deferred if vendor-specific objective evidence does
not exist for each contract element, or if there are uncertainties about the
timng of delivery of specific contract elements. The revenue that is deferred
for any contract element is recognized when all of the revenue recognition
criteria have been net for that element. Revenue frommonthly software licenses
i s recogni zed as |icense fees accrue.

FI NANCI NG

Revenue fromfinancing is recognized at level rates of return over the term of
the | ease or receivable

[ ncome Taxes

Income tax expense is based on reported incone before income taxes. Deferred
incone taxes reflect the effect of tenporary differences between assets and
liabilities that are recognized for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
that are recognized for income tax purposes. In accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, "Accounting for Inconme Taxes,"
these deferred taxes are nmeasured by applying currently enacted tax |aus.

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency Amounts



Assets and liabilities of non-U'S. subsidiaries that operate in a local currency
environment are translated to U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. |ncome
and expense items are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during
the year. Translation adjustments are recorded in Accunul ated gains and | osses
not affecting retained earnings wthin stockhol ders’ equity

Inventories and plant, rental machines and other non-monetary assets and
liabilities of non-U S. subsidiaries and branches that operate in US. dollars
or whose economic environnment is highly inflationary, are translated at

approxi mate exchange rates prevailing when the conpany acquired the assets or
liabilities. All other assets and liabilities are translated at year-end
exchange rates. Cost of sales and depreciation are translated at historica
exchange rates. All other income and expense itenms are translated at the average
rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Gains and | osses that result from
translation are included in net incone.
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Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the conpany uses a variety of derivative
financial instruments to manage currency exchange rate and interest rate risk
To qualify for hedge accounting, the company requires that the derivative
instruments that are used for risk managenent purposes effectively reduce the
risk exposure that they are designed to hedge. For instruments that are
associated with the hedge of an anticipated transaction, hedge effectiveness
criteria also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction will
occur. Instruments that meet these hedging criteria are formally designated as
hedges at the inception of the contract. \Wen the terms of an underlying hedged
itemor transaction are nodified, or when the underlying hedged item ceases to
exist, all changes in the fair value of the risk managenment instrunent are
recogni zed in income each period until the instrument matures. Those risk
managenent instruments that do not meet the hedging criteria are accounted for
at fair value, and changes in fair value are recognized imediately in net
income. Refer to note L, "Financial Instruments," on pages 75 through 77 for
descriptions of the major classes of derivative financial instruments used by
the conpany, including the specific methods that the conpany uses to account for
them

In determining the fair value of its derivative and non-derivative financia
instruments, the conpany uses a variety of nethods and assunptions that are
based on market conditions and risks existing at each bal ance sheet date. For
the mgjority of financial instruments including nost derivatives, long-term
investments and long-termdebt, standard market conventions and techniques such
as estimted discounted value of future cash flows, option pricing models
replacement cost and ternination cost are used to determine fair value. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for the same or sinilar instruments are used for
the remaining financial instruments

Cash Equival ents

Al highly-liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at date of
purchase are carried at fair value and considered to he cash equival ents

Mar ket abl e Securities

Market abl e securities included in current assets represent securities with a
maturity of less than one year. The conpany’'s policy is to invest in primrily
hi gh-grade marketabl e securities. The conpany’s marketable securities are
considered available for sale and are reported at fair value with changes in
unrealized gains and |osses, net of applicable taxes, recorded in Accunul ated
gains and | osses not affecting retained earnings within stockhol ders’ equity
Real i zed gains and |osses are cal cul ated bhased on the specific identification
et hod.

[nventories

Raw materials, work in process and finished goods are stated at the |ower of
average cost or net realizable value

Depreci ation

Plant, rental machines (conputer equipnent that is used internally, subject to
an operating |ease or as part of strategic outsourcing contracts) and ot her
property are carried at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful Iives
using the straight-line method

The estimated useful lives of depreciable properties generally are as follows:
bui l di ngs, 50 years; building equi pment, 20 years; land inprovements, 20 years
plant, laboratory and office equipnent, 2 to 15 years; and conmputer equipnent,
1.5 to 5 years.

Sof t war e

Costs that are related to the conceptual fornulation and design of Iicensed
programs are expensed as research and devel opnent. Also, for |icensed prograns,
the conpany capitalizes costs to produce the finished product that are incurred
after technological feasibility is established. The annual amortization of the
capitalized amunts is the greater of the amunt conputed based on the estinated
revenue distribution over the products’ revenue-producing lives, or the
straight-line method, and is applied over periods ranging up to three years. The
conpany performs periodic reviews to ensure that unamortized program costs
remain recoverable fromfuture revenue. The company charges costs to support or



service |icensed prograns against incone as they are incurred.

The conpany capitalizes certain costs that are incurred to purchase or to create
and inplement internal use computer software, which include software coding
installation, testing and data conversion. Capitalized costs are amortized on a
straight-line basis over two years

Retirement Plans and Nonpension Postretirement Benefits

Current service costs of retirement plans and postretirement healthcare and life
insurance benefits are accrued in the period. Prior service costs that result
fromanmendnents to the plans are amortized over the average remaining service
period of the enployees expected to receive benefits. Unrecognized net gains and
losses that exceed ten percent of the greater of the projected benefit
obligation or the market-related value of plan assets are anortized to service
cost over the average remaining service life of enployees expected to receive
benefits. See note W "Retirement Plans,” on pages 86 through 88 and note X
"Nonpensi on Postretirement Benefits," on pages 88 and 89 for further discussion
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Goodwi | |

Goodwi I is charged to net income on a straight-line basis over the periods
estimated to benefit, generally not to exceed five years. The conpany perforns
reviews to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill and takes into account events
or circunstances that warrant revised estimtes of useful lives or that indicate
that an inpairment exists.

Common St ock

Common stock refers to the $.20 par value capital stock as designated in the
conpany’s Certificate of Incorporation.

Earnings Per Share of Conmon Stock

Earnings per share of conmon stock--basic is conputed by dividing Net income
applicable to comon stockhol ders by the wei ght ed-average nunber of common
shares outstanding for the period. Earnings per share of common stock--assumng
dilution reflects the maximumpotential dilution that could occur if securities
or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into comon
stock and woul d then share in the net income of the conpany. See note T,
"Earnings Per Share of Common Stock," on page 83 for further discussion.

B Accounting Changes
Standar ds | npl enent ed

The conpany inpl enented new accounting standards in 1999, 1998 and 1997. None of
these standards had a material effect on the financial position or results of
operations of the conpany.

Effective January 1, 1999, the conpany adopted American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA) Statenent of Position (SOP) 98-1, "Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software Devel oped or Obtained for Internal Use." The SOP
requires a conpany to capitalize certain costs that are incurred to purchase or
to create and inplement internal use computer software. See note A, "Significant
Accounting Policies" on pages 69 through 71 for a description of the conpany's
policies for internal use software.

Effective December 31, 1998, the conpany adopted SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures
about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information," which establishes
standards for reporting operating segnents and disclosures about products and
services, geographic areas and mgjor customers. See note Y, "Segnent
Information," on pages 89 through 93 for the conpany’s segnent information.

Effective December 31, 1998, the company adopted SFAS No. 132, "Enployers'

Di scl osures ahout Pensions and Cther Postretirement Benefits," which establishes
standardi zed disclosures for defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit
plans. See note W "Retirenment Plans,” on pages 86 through 83 and note X
"Nonpensi on Postretirement Benefits," on pages 88 and 89 for the disclosures.

Effective January 1, 1998, the company adopted SFAS No. 130, "Reporting
Conprehensive Income," which establishes standards for reporting and displaying
inafull set of general-purpose financial statements the gains and |osses not
affecting retained earnings. The disclosures required by SFAS No. 130 are
presented in the Accunul ated gains and | osses not affecting retained earnings
section in the Consolidated Statement of Stockhol ders’ Equity on pages 66 and 67
and in note N "Stockhol ders’ Equity Activity," on pages 78 and 79.

Effective January 1, 1998, the conpany adopted the AICPA SCP 97-2, "Software
Revenue Recognition.” This SCP provides guidance on revenue recognition for
software transactions. See note A, "Significant Accounting Policies" on pages 69
through 71 for a description of the conpany's policy for software revenue
recognition.

Effective December 31, 1997, the conpany inplemented SFAS No. 128, "Earnings Per
Share" (EPS). This statement prescribes the methods for cal cul ating basic and
diluted EPS and requires dual presentation of these anounts on the face of the
Consol i dated Statement of Earnings.

Effective January 1, 1997, the company inplemented SFAS No. 125, "Accounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities."
Thi's statement provides accounting and reporting standards for transfers and
servicing of financial assets and extingui shnents of liabilities.



New Standards to be I npl ement ed

I'n June 1999, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 137,
"Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgi ng Activities--Deferral of the
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133." This statement defers the effective
date of SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities," to fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2000, although early
adoption is encouraged. SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments. It requires a conpany to recognize all
derivatives as
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either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and to
neasure those instruments at fair value. Additionally, the fair value
adjustnents will affect either stockholders’ equity or net income depending on
whether the derivative instrunent qualifies as a hedge for accounting purposes
and, if so, the nature of the hedging activity. The company will adopt this
standard as of January 1, 2001. Management does not expect the adoption to have
a mterial effect on the conpany’s results of operations; however, the effect on
the conpany's financial position depends on the fair values of the conpany's
derivatives and related financial instrunents at the date of adoption.

C Common Stock Split

On January 26, 1999, the conpany’'s Board of Directors approved a two-for-one
stock split effective May 10, 1999. On April 27, 1999, the stockhol ders of the
conpany approved amendments to the Certificate of Incorporation to increase the
number of authorized shares of common stock from1,875 million to 4,687.5
mllion, which was required to effect that stock split. In addition, the
amendrment reduced the par value of the comon shares from$.50 to $.20 per
share. Common stockhol ders of record at the close of business on My 10, 1999,
received one additional share for each share held. All share and per share data
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes of this Annual
Report reflect the two-for-one stock split.

D Acqui sitions/Divestitures
Acqui sitions

I'n 1999, the conpany conpleted 17 acquisitions at a cost of approximately $1.5
billion. Three of the major acquisitions for the year are detailed in the
fol I owi ng di scussi on.

On Septenber 24, 1999, the conpany acquired all of the outstanding capital stock
of Sequent Conputer Systems, Inc. (Sequent) for approximately $828 nillion.
Sequent was an acknowl edged | eader in systems based on NUMA (non-uniform memory
access) architecture.

On Septenber 29, 1999, the conpany acquired all of the outstanding stock of
Ml ex Corporation (Mlex) for approximtely $259 million. Mlex was a |eading
devel oper of technology for moving, storing, protecting and managing data in
desktop and networked environnents.

On Septenber 27, 1999, the conpany acquired DASCOM Inc. (DASCOM, an industry
| eader in Veb-based and enterprise-security technology, for approximtely $115
mllion.

The conpany accounted for each acquisition as a purchase transaction. The
effects of these acquisitions on the conpany’'s Consolidated Financial Statements
were not material. Hence, the company has not provided pro forma financial
statements as if the conpanies had combined at the beginning of the current
period or the imediately preceding period.

The conpany engaged a national |y recognized independent appraisal firmto
express an opinion on the fair value of the net assets that the conpany acquired
to serve as a basis for the following allocation of the purchase price.

(Dol lars in mllions) Sequent Ml ex DASCOM
Pur chase price $ 828 $ 259 $ 115
Tangi bl e net assets (liabilities) 382 67 (17)
Identifiable intangible assets 187 35 13
Current technol ogy 87 26 19
Coodwi | | 183 145 92
I n-process research

and devel opnent 85 7 19

Deferred tax liabilities
related to identifiable
intangible assets (96) (21) (11)

The tangible net assets conprise primarily cash, accounts receivable, |and,
bui I dings and |easehol d inprovenents. The identifiable intangible assets
conprise primarily patents, trademarks, customer lists, assenmbled workforce,
enpl oyee agreements and | easehold interests. The identifiable intangible assets
and goodwi || will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a five-year period.



I'n connection with the acquisitions of Sequent, Mlex and DASCOM the conpany
recorded a pre-tax charge for research, developnent and engineering of $111
milion ($111 nillion after tax, or $.06 per diluted common share) for acquired
in-process research and devel opment (1PR&D). At the date of each acquisition,
the I PR&D projects had not yet reached technol ogical feasibility and had no
alternative future uses. The value of the IPR&D reflects the relative value and
contribution of the acquired research and devel opnent to the conpany’s existing
research or product |ines.
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In January 1998, the company acquired Software Artistry, Inc., a leading
provider of both consolidated service desk and custoner relationship managenent
solutions for distributed enterprise environnents. In March 1998, the conpany
acquired Commuest Technol ogi es, Inc., a conpany that designs and markets
advanced seni conductors for wireless comunications applications such as
cellular phones and satellite conmunications. In connection with these
acquisitions, the company recorded a pre-tax charge for |PR&D of $111 million
($111 nillion after tax, or $.06 per diluted conmon share).

On April 16, 1997, the conpany purchased a majority interest in NetChjects, a

| eadi ng provider of Vb site devel opment tools for designers and intranet

devel opers. In 1999, as a result of NetObject’s initial public offering, the
conpany’s interest declined to less than 50 percent. In Septenber 1997, the
conpany acquired the 30 percent equity interest held by Sears in Advantis, the
U S. network services armof the company’s G obal Network. Advantis was then
owned 100 percent by the conpany. Advantis becane part of the conpany’s @ obal
Network, which the conpany sold to AT&T in 1999. In Decenber 1997, the conpany
acquired Eastman Kodak's share of Technol ogy Service Sol utions, which was forned
in 1994 by the conpany and Eastman Kodak. In Decenber 1997, the conpany acquired
Unison Software, Inc., a |eading devel oper of workload management software. In
connection with these acquisitions the company recorded a pre-tax charge for

| PRED of $111 nillion ($111 nillion after tax, or $.05 per diluted common
share).

Divestitures

I'n Decenber 1998, the conpany announced that it would sell its G obal Network
busi ness to AT&T. During 1999, the conpany conpleted the sale to AT&T for $4,991
mllion. Mre than 5,300 | BMenployees joined AT&T as a result of these sales of
operations in 71 countries.

The conpany recogni zed a pre-tax gain of $4,057 nmillion ($2,495 nillion after
tax, or $1.33 per diluted comon share). The net gain reflects dispositions of
Plant, rental machines and other property of $410 million, other assets of $182
mllion and contractual obligations of $342 million.

E Inventories

(Dol lars in mllions)

At Decenber 31 1999 1998
Fini shed goods $ 1,162 $ 1,088
Work in process and raw materials 3,706 4,112
Tot al $ 4,868 $ 5,200

F Plant, Rental Machines and Qther Property

(Dol lars in mllions)

At Decenber 31 1999 1998
Land and |and inprovenents $ 1,026 $ 1,001
Bui | di ngs 10, 395 11,088
Plant, laboratory and office equipment 22,503 27,025

33,924 39, 204
Less: Accunul ated depreciation 19, 268 22,463

14, 656 16, 741
Rental machines 5,692 5, 666
Less: Accunul ated depreciation 2,758 2,776

2,934 2,890
Tot al $17,590 $19, 631

G Investnments and Sundry Assets

(Dol lars in mllions)



At Decenber 31: 1999 1998

Net investment in sales-type |eases* $14, 201 $14, 384
Less: Current portion--net 6,220 6,510
7,981 7,874

Deferred taxes 2,654 2,921
Prepai d pension assets 5, 636 4,836
Customer | oan receivabl es--

not yet due 4,219 3,499
Installment payment receivabl es 848 1,087
Al'liance investnents:

Equi ty method 595 420

Qther--available for sale 1,439 138
Goodwi I, Iess accunul ated anortization

(1999, $2,646; 1998, $2,111) 1,045 945
Mar ket abl e securities--non-current 113 281
Qther investnents and sundry assets 1,557 1,509
Tot al $26, 087 $23, 510

¥ These |eases relate principally to | BMequipnment and are generally for
terns ranging fromthree to five years. Net investment in sales-type
| eases includes unguaranteed residual values of approximately $737 nillion
and $685 million at Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and is
reflected net of unearned income at those dates of approximtely $1,600
mllion for both years. Scheduled maturities of mninumlease payments
outstanding at Decenber 31, 1999, expressed as a percentage of the total,
are approximately as follows: 2000, 49 percent; 2001, 32 percent; 2002, 14
percent; 2003, 4 percent; and 2004 and beyond, 1 percent.
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H Lines of Credit

The conpany maintains a $10.0 billion global credit facility. The conpany’s
other conmitted and unconmitted lines of credit were $5.5 billion and $5.2
billion at Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Interest rates and other
terms of horrowing under these lines of credit vary fromcountry to country
depending on | ocal market conditions at the time of the borrow ng.

(Dol lars in billions)

At Decenber 31: 1999 1998
Unused Lines

Fromthe global credit facility $ 8.6 $ 88

Fromother committed and

unconmitted |ines 4.5 4.3
Total unused lines of credit $ 13.1 $ 13.1

| Sale and Securitization of Receivables

The conpany manages assets of $273 million and $864 nillion fromthe
securitization of loans, leases and trade receivables, at year-end 1999 and
1998, respectively. The conpany received cash proceeds of $1,311 million and
$2,425 mllion in 1999 and 1998, respectively, fromthe sale and securitization
of these receivables and assets. No significant gain or loss resulted fromthese
transactions. The conpany expects recourse anounts associated with the
aforementioned sale and securitization activities to be niniml, and has
adequate reserves to cover potential |osses.

J Debt
Short-term debt

(Dollars in mllions)

At Decenber 31 1999 1998
Commercial paper $ 5,074 $ 4,885
Short-term | oans 3,351 6,370
Long-termdebt: Current maturities 5,805 2,650
Tot al $14, 230 $13, 905

The wei ght ed-average interest rates for comercial paper at Decenber 31, 1999
and 1998, were 5.9 percent and 5.7 percent, respectively. The weighted-average
interest rates for short-termloans at Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, were 4.0
percent and 5.3 percent, respectively.

Long-t erm debt

(Dollars in mllions)

At Decenber 31: Maturities 1999 1998
US. Dollars:
Debent ur es:
6.22% 2027 $ 500 $ 500
6.5% 2028 700 700
7.0% 2025 600 600
7.0% 2045 150 150
7.125% 2096 850 850
7.5% 2013 550 550
8. 375% 2019 750 750
Notes: 6. 3% average 2000- 2014 4,191 2,695
Medi um term note

program 5. 8% average 2000- 2014 6, 230 4,885
Qther: 6.5% average 2000- 2012 1,227 1,514

Qther currencies
(average interest rate



at December 31, 1999,
in parentheses):

Japanese yen (3.0% 2000-2014 3,141 3, 866
Canadi an dol lars (5. 7% 2000- 2005 707 672
German marks (4.9% 2002 103 120
Swiss francs (2.5% 2001 78 91
U K pounds (7.0% 2000- 2003 33 25
Orher (13.6% 2000- 2014 159 221

Less: Net unanortized

di scount 40 31
19, 929 18, 158

Less: Current maturities 5, 805 2,650
Tot al $14, 124 $15, 508

Annual maturities in nillions of dollars on long-termdebt outstanding at
Decenmber 31, 1999, are as fol lows: 2000, $5,805; 2001, $2,915; 2002, $2,659;
2003, $1,234; 2004, $489; 2005 and beyond, $6,867.
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K Interest on Debt

Interest paid and accrued on borrowings of the company and its subsidiaries was
$1,475 mllion in 1999, $1,585 nillion in 1998 and $1,596 nillion in 1997. Cf
these amounts, the conpany capitalized $23 million in 1999, $28 million in 1998
and $32 nillion in 1997. Of the remainder, the conpany charged to the cost of
financing $725 nillion in 1999, $844 nmillion in 1998 and $836 million in 1997,
and to interest expense $727 million in 1999, $713 million in 1998 and $728
mllionin 1997. The decrease in total interest in 1999 versus 1998 was due
primarily to |ower average interest rates, partially offset by an increase in
average debt outstanding during 1999. The decrease in 1998 versus 1997 was due
primarily to |ower average interest rates, partially offset by higher
outstanding average debt. The average effective interest rate for total debt was
5.1 percent, 5.7 percent and 6.4 percent in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
These rates include the results of currency and interest rate swaps applied to
the debt described in note J, "Debt," on page 74.

L Financial Instrunents

The conpany maintains on- and of f-bal ance sheet portfolios of financial
instrunents.

Financial Instruments On-Balance Sheet (excluding derivatives)

Financial assets with carrying values that approximate fair value include cash
and cash equival ents, marketable securities, notes and other accounts receivable
and other investments. Financial liabilities with carrying values that
approximate fair value include accounts payabl e and other accrued expenses and
liabilities, and short-termand |ong-term debt.

The following table summarizes the company’s marketable securities, all of which
are considered available for sale.

MARKETABLE SECUR! Tl ES*

(Dollars in mllions) Fair Val ue
At Decenber 31: 1999 1998
Current marketable securities:
U.S. governnent securities $ 15 $ 15
Time deposits and other bank obligations 746 335
Non-U. S. government securities and

other fixed-termobligations 27 43
Tot al $ 788 $ 393

Mar ket abl e securities--non-current:**

Time deposits and ot her bank obligations $ 105 $ 271
Non-U. S. governnent securities and

other fixed-termobligations 8 10
Tot al $ 113 $ 281
Alliance investnents** $1, 439 $ 138

¥ Gross unrealized gains (before taxes) on marketable securities were $1,310
milion and $87 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Goss
unrealized | osses (hefore taxes) on marketable securities were $7 nillion
and $8 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

** Included within Investnents and sundry assets on the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. (See note G on page 73.)

Financial Instruments Off-Balance Sheet (excluding derivatives)

| BM has guaranteed certain |oans and financial comitments of its affiliates.
The approximate amount of these financial guarantees was $1.2 billion at
Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998.

The conpany’s deal ers had unused |ines of credit available fromIBMfor working
capital financing of approximately $4.5 billion and $3.6 billion at Decenber 31,
1999 and 1998, respectively.



=DOCUMENT 4 PAGE 28============ (PD 13- MAR- 2000 18: 45: 47)
=EFW 2004620
<PAGE>

76

notes to consolidated financial statenents

International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es

The conpany enters into contracts that effectively provide the conpany with
conmitted future borrowings in select foreign currencies. The aggregate notional
value of these contracts was $6.4 billion and $3.0 billion as of Decenber 31,
1999 and 1998, respectively. The terms of these contracts generally are |ess
than eighteen nonths. Foreign exchange gains and | osses associated with these
contracts are recorded in net income as they are realized. These amounts have
not been and are not expected to be material to the conpany's financial results.

Derivative Financial Instrunents

The conpany uses derivative financial instruments as an element of its risk
managenent strategy. The conpany manages the risk of nonperformance by
counterparties by establishing explicit dollar and termlimtations that
correspond to the credit rating of each carefully selected counterparty. The
conpany has not sustained a material loss fromthese instruments nor does it
anticipate any material adverse effect onits results of operations or financial
positionin the future.

The following table summarizes the notional value, carrying value and fair value
of the company’s derivative financial instruments on- and off-bal ance sheet. The
notional value at Decenber 31 provides an indication of the extent of the
conpany’ s involvenent in these instruments at that tine, but does not represent
exposure to credit, interest rate or foreign exchange rate market risks.

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
At Decenber 31, 1999 At Decenber 31, 1998

Not i onal Carrying Fair Not i onal Carrying Fair
(Dollars in mllions) Val ue Val ue Val ue Val ue Val ue Val ue
<S> <C <C <G < <G <G
Interest rate and currency contracts $29, 830 $ (257) $ (491 $31, 484 $ (485 $ (427)
(ption contracts 1,705 59 54 9,021 67 45
Tot al $31,535 $ (198) $ (437)* $40, 505 $ (418 $ (382)*
</ TABLE>

Amounts in parentheses are liabilities.

¥ The estimated fair value of derivatives both on- and off-bal ance sheet at
Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, conprises assets of $616 million and $486
milion and liabilities of $1,053 million and $868 nillion, respectively.

Asignificant portion of the conpany’s derivative transactions relates to
matching the interest and foreign currency rate profiles of funding liabilities
with the interest and foreign currency rate profiles of global financing and
other market risk sensitive assets. The conpany issues debt, using the most
efficient capital markets and products, which may result in a currency or
interest rate msmatch with the underlying assets. The company uses interest
rate swaps or currency swaps to match the interest rate and currency profiles of
its debt to the related assets. The terms of these swap contracts generally are
less than five years. Net interest settlements and currency rate differentials
that accrue under interest rate and currency swap contracts, respectively, are
recognized in interest expense over the life of the contracts.

The conpany uses its G obal Treasury Centers to manage the cash of its

subsi diaries. These treasury centers principally use currency swaps to convert
cash flows in a cost-effective manner, predominantly for the conpany’s European
subsidiaries. The terms of the swaps generally are |ess than one year. The
interest rate differential in these contracts is recognized in interest expense
over the life of the contracts.

The conpany al so uses currency swaps and other foreign currency contracts to
hedge the foreign currency exposures of certain of the company’s net investnents
in foreign subsidiaries. The currency effects of these hedges are reflected in
the Accunul ated gains and losses not affecting retained earnings section of
stockhol ders’ equity thereby offsetting a portion of the translation of the net
foreign assets.
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The conpany al so uses derivatives to limt its exposure to loss resulting
primarily fromfluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on anticipated
cash transactions anong foreign subsidiaries and with the parent company. The
conpany receives significant intraconpany royalties and net payments for goods
and services fromits non-U S subsidiaries. In anticipation of these foreign
currency flows, and in view of the volatility of the currency markets, the
conpany selectively enploys foreign currency derivatives to manage its currency
risk. The terns of these instruments generally are |ess than eighteen nonths.

For purchased options that hedge qualifying anticipated transactions, gains and
| osses are deferred and recognized in net incone in the same period that the
under|ying transaction occurs, expires or otherwise is termnated. At December
31, 1999 and 1998, there were no material deferred gains or |osses. The prem uns
associated with entering into these option contracts generally are anortized
over the life of the options and are not material to the conpany’'s results.
Unamortized premiums are recorded in prepaid assets. Gains and | 0sses on
purchased options that hedge anticipated transactions that do not qualify for
hedge accounting, and on witten options, are recorded in earnings as they occur
and are not mterial to the conpany’s results.

M Cther Liabilities and Environmental Renediation

Oher liabilities principally conprises accruals for nonpension postretirenent
benefits for U.S. enployees ($6,392 nillion) and nonpension postretirenent
benefits, indemity and retirenment plan reserves for non-US. enployees ($1,028
mllion). Mre detailed discussion of these liabilities appears in note X
"Nonpensi on Postretirement Benefits," on pages 88 and 89, and note W
"Retirement Plans," on pages 86 through 88.

Al'so included in other liabilities are non-current liabilities associated with
infrastructure reduction and restructuring actions taken through 1993. O her
liabilities includes $659 million for postenploynent preretirenment accruals and
$503 nillion (net of sublease receipts) for accruals for |eased space that the
conpany vacat ed.

The conpany enpl oys extensive internal environmental protection prograns that
primarily are preventive in nature. The cost of these ongoing progranms is
recorded as incurred.

The conpany continues to participate in environnental assessments and cl eanups
at a nunber of locations, including operating facilities, previously owned
facilities and Superfund sites. The conpany accrues for all known environnental
liabilities when it becones probable that the company will incur clean-up costs
and those costs can reasonably be estimated. In addition, estinmated
environmental costs that are associated with post-closure activities (for
exanple, the removal and restoration of chemical storage facilities and
nonitoring) are accrued when the decision is made to close a facility. The total
amounts accrued, which do not reflect actual or anticipated insurance
recoveries, were $240 nillion and $238 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively.

The amounts accrued do not cover sites that are in the prelimnary stages of
investigation; that is, for which neither the conpany’s percentage of
responsibility nor the extent of cleanup required has been identified. Estimated
environmental costs are not expected to materially affect the financial position
or results of the company’s operations in future periods. However, estimtes of
future costs are subject to change due to protracted cleanup periods and
changing environnental renediation regul ations.
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N Stockhol ders’ Equity Activity
Stock Repurchases

Fromtinme to time, the Board of Directors authorizes the company to repurchase

| BM common stock. The conpany repurchased 71,618,800 common shares at a cost of
$7.3 billion and 114,768,200 common shares at a cost of $6.9 billion in 1999 and
1998, respectively. In 1999, the conpany did not retire the shares it
repurchased. The 1998 repurchases resulted in a reduction of $28,498,409 in the
stated capital (par value) associated with common stock. In 1998, the conpany
retired the repurchased shares and restored themto the status of authorized but
uni ssued shares. In 1999 and 1998, the conpany issued 906,829 and 774,564
shares, respectively, as a result of exercises of enployee stock options. At
Decenmber 31, 1999, approximately $2.5 billion of Board authorization for
repurchases remained. The conpany plans to purchase shares on the open narket
fromtime to time, depending on market conditions.

In 1995, the Board of Directors authorized the conpany to purchase all of its
outstanding Series A 7-1/2 percent preferred stock. The company did not
repurchase any shares in 1999. During 1998, the conpany repurchased 51, 250
shares at a cost of $5.5 nillion. This resulted in a $512.50 ($.01 par val ue per
share) reduction in the stated capital associated with preferred stock as of
Decenber 31, 1998. The company retired the repurchased shares and restored them
to the status of authorized but unissued shares. The conpany plans to purchase
the remaining outstanding shares on the open market and in private transactions
fromtime to tinme, depending on market conditions. There were 2,546,011 shares
outstanding at Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998.

Enpl oyee Benefits Trust

Effective November 1, 1997, the conpany created an enpl oyee benefits trust to
which it contributed 20 million shares of treasury stock. The conpany is
authorized to instruct the trustee to sell shares fromtime to time and to use
proceeds fromthose sales, and any dividends paid on the contributed stock,
toward the partial satisfaction of the company’s future obligations under
certain of its conpensation and benefits plans. The shares held in trust are not
consi dered outstanding for purposes of cal culating earnings per share until they
are comitted to be released. The trustee will vote the shares in accordance
with its fiduciary duties. As of Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, the conpany had not
conmitted any shares to be rel eased.

At Decenber 31, 1998, the conmpany adjusted its valuation of the enployee
benefits trust to fair value. This adjustnment affected only line items within
stockhol ders’ equity; it did not affect total stockholders’ equity or net

i ncone.

Accunul ated Gains and Losses Not Affecting Retained Earnings

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>

Forei gn Net Unrealized Total Gains and

Currency Gains (Losses) on Losses Not Affecting
(Dollars in mllions) |tens* Market abl e Securities* Retai ned Ear ni ngs*
<S> < <C <C
Begi nni ng bal ance, January 1, 1997 $ 2,401 $ 168 $ 2,569
Change for period (1,610 (60) (1,670)
Ending bal ance, December 31, 1997 791 108 899
Change for period 69 (57) 12
Endi ng bal ance, Decenmber 31, 1998 860 51 911
Change for period (546) 796 250
Ending bal ance, Decenmber 31, 1999 $ 314 $ 847 $ 1,161
</ TABLE>

¥ Net of tax.
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NET CHANGE | N UNREALI ZED GAINS (LOSSES) ON
MARKETABLE SECURITIES (NET OF TAX)
(Dollars in millions)
For the year ended December 31 1999 1998**
Net unrealized gains arising
during the period $943 $ 44
Less net gains included
in net income for the period 147 101

Net increase in net unrealized
gains on marketabl e securities $796 $ (57)

¥ Restated to present ampunts net of tax.

0O Conti ngenci es

The conpany is subject to a variety of clains and suits that arise fromtime to
time in the ordinary course of its business, including actions with respect to
contracts, intellectual property, product liability and environmental matters.
The conpany does not believe that any current action will have a material effect
on the conmpany’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

P Taxes

(Dollars in mllions)

For the year ended Decenber 31: 1999 1998 1997

I'ncone before income taxes:

U.S. operations $ 5,892 $2, 960 $3,193

Non-U. S. operations 5, 865 6, 080 5,834
$11, 757 $9, 040 $9, 027

The provision for inconme taxes
by geographi c operations

is as follous:
U.S. operations $ 2,005 $ 991 $ 974
Non-U. S. operations 2,040 1,721 1,960
Total provision for incone taxes $ 4,045 $2,712 $2,934

The conponents of the provision for income taxes by taxing jurisdiction are as
fol | ows:

(Dollars in mllions)

For the year ended Decenber 31 1999 1998 1997

US federal:

Current $ 1,759 $ 1,117 $ 163

Deferred (427) (475) 349
1,332 642 512

US state and local:

Current 272 139 83

Deferred 7 (260) (87)

279 (121) (4)

Non-U. S.:

Current 2,721 2,062 2,330

Deferred (293) 129 96
2,434 2,191 2,426

Total provision for incone taxes 4,045 2,712 2,934

Provision for social security,
real estate, personal property
and other taxes 2,831 2, 859 2,774



Total provision for taxes $ 6,876 $ 5,571 $ 5,708

The effect of tax law changes on deferred tax assets and liabilities did not
have a significant effect on the conpany’s effective tax rate.
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The significant conponents of activities that gave rise to deferred tax assets
and liabilities that are recorded on the bal ance sheet were as foll ows:

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(Dollars in mllions)

At December 31: 1999 1998
Enpl oyee benefits $ 3,737 $ 3,909
Al'ternative nininumtax credits 1,244 1,169
Bad debt, inventory and

warranty reserves 1,093 1,249
Infrastructure reduction charges 918 863
Capitalized research and devel opnent 880 913
Deferred incone 870 686
General business credits 605 555
Foreign tax | oss carryforwards 406 304
Equity alliances 377 387
Depreciation 326 201
State and |ocal tax loss carryforwards 227 212
Intraconpany sales and services 153 182
O her 2,763 2,614
Goss deferred tax assets 13,599 13,244
Less: Valuation al | owance 647 488
Net deferred tax assets $12, 952 $12, 756

DEFERRED TAX LI ABILITI ES

(Dol lars in mllions)

At Decenber 31: 1999 1998
Retirenent benefits $ 3,092 $ 2,775
Sal es-type | eases 2,914 3,433
Depreciation 1,237 1,505
Sof tware costs deferred 250 287
Qt her 2,058 1,841
Goss deferred tax liabilities $ 9,551 $ 9, 841

The val uation all owance at Decenber 31, 1999, principally applies to certain
state and local and foreign tax loss carryforwards that, in the opinion of
managenent, are nore |ikely than not to expire before the conpany can use them

A reconciliation of the conpany’s effective tax rate to the statutory US.
federal tax rate is as follows:

For the year ended Decenber 31 1999 1998 1997
Statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
Foreign tax differential (2) (6) (3)
State and local 1 1 1

Val uation al | owance

related itens - (1)
Qther .- 1
Effective rate 34% 30% 33%

For tax return purposes, the company has available tax credit carryforwards of
approximtely $1,919 million, of which $1,244 nmillion have an indefinite
carryforward period, $199 million expire in 2004 and the remminder thereafter.
The conpany al so has state and |ocal and foreign tax |oss carryforwards, the tax
effect of which is $633 nillion. Mst of these carryforwards are available for
10 years or have an indefinite carryforward period.

Undi stributed earnings of non-U S. subsidiaries included in consolidated
retained earnings were $14,900 nillion at Decenber 31, 1999, $13,165 million at
Decenber 31, 1998, and $12,511 million at Decenber 31, 1997. These earnings,
which reflect full provision for non-US. incone taxes, are indefinitely



reinvested in non-US. operations or will be renitted substantially free of
addi tional tax.

Q Selling and Advertising

Selling and advertising expense is charged against income as incurred.
Advertising expense, which includes nedia, agency and pronotional expenses, was
$1,758 million, $1,681 nillion and $1,708 million in 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.
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R 1999 Actions
Technol ogy Group Actions

During 1999, the conpany inplenented actions that were designed to better align
the operations and cost structure of IBM's Technology Group with that group’s
strategic direction in view of the conmpetitive environment, overcapacity in the
industry and resulting pricing pressures. The actions affect the

Mcroel ectronics Division (M), the Storage Systems Division (SSD) and the

Net wor ki ng Hardware Division (NHD) of the company's Technol ogy Goup. The
conpany expects these actions to be substantially conpleted by the first half of
2000.

Intotal, the Technol ogy Group actions resulted in a charge of $1,690 nillion
($1,366 million after tax, or $.73 per diluted comon share) as described bel ow
and in the table on page 82.

The actions within M addressed a prol onged, industry-wide downturn in memory
chip prices that affected the results of the conpany’s seniconductor business.
They are intended to enable the conpany to (1) reconfigure the assets and
capabilities of the division to allow nore focus on the faster-growh,

hi gher-margin customlogic portion of the MD business and (2) enhance its
ability to more cost effectively manage a partnership agreement that was formed
to produce conpl ementary netal oxide semiconductor (CMOXS) based |ogic
conponentss.

The conpany will reduce its internal dynamc random access menory (DRAM
capacity by converting its manufacturing facility in Essonnes, France, from DRAM
to customlogic over an 18-month period. The conpany is effecting that
conversion through a joint venture with Infineon Technol ogies, a subsidiary of
Siemens AG Also related to DRAM the conpany executed contracts with various
banks and other financing institutions to sell and |ease back test equipment.

The conpany al so participates in a 50/50 joint venture (Doninion Seniconductor
Conpany) with Toshi ba Corporation to produce DRAM memory components. The conpany
entered into an agreenment wherehy Toshiba will assume the conpany’s interest in
Donmi ni on effective December 31, 2000. The company will participate in the
capacity output of Donminion at a significantly reduced rate in the interim

peri od.

The conpany held a mgjority interest ina joint venture (MCRUS) with Crrus
Logic Inc. (the partner) to produce CM3XS-based |ogic components for [BMand its
partner based on contractual capacity agreenents. The partner indicated that it
woul d not require the output capacity that is provided for in the partnership
agreement. The conpany determined that the most cost-effective manner in which
to address the partner's desire to exit the partnership agreement was to acquire
the minority interest held by that partner.

The conpany al so announced aggressive steps intended to inprove its conpetitive
position in the markets that SSD serves by nerging server hard disk drive (HDD)
product lines and realigning operations. The conpany is integrating all server
HDDs into a single |owcost design platformthat uses conmon devel opment and
manuf act uring processes. The company continues to transfer manufacturing
assenbly and test operations to Hungary and Mexico and expects to conplete these
actions by md 2000.

The actions within NHD relate to a global alliance with Gisco Systems, Inc. As a
result of the announcenent of the alliance, demand for the router and switch
products fromboth existing and new customers deteriorated.
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The following table identifies the significant conponents of the pre-tax charge
related to the 1999 actions as wel|l as the after-tax charges and the effect on
earnings per share assuning dilution; the investments and other asset
write-downs in 1999; and the liability as of December 31, 1999:

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
Effect on
Ear ni ngs | nvest ment s
Tot al per Share- and Qther Liability Liability

(Dollars in mllions except Pre- Tax After-Tax Assumi ng Asset Created as of
per share amounts) Char ges* Char ges Dilution Wit e- Downs in 1999 Dec. 31, 1999
<S> <C <C <C <C <C <C
Technol ogy G oup
MD Acti ons:
DRAM

Equi prent (1) $ 662 $ 603 $.32 $ 662 $-- $--

Enpl oyee Terminations(2) 167 167 .09 -- 167 149
Doni ni on | nvest nent (3) 171 104 .05 171 -- --
M CRUS | nvest nent (4) 152 92 .05 -- 152 152
SSD Acti ons:

Equi pnent (5) 337 217 .15 337 -- --

Enpl oyee Terminati ons(6) 23 14 .01 -- 23 7
NHD Acti on:

Inventory Wite-downs and

Contract Cancellations(7) 178 109 .06 178
Total 1999 Actions $1, 690 $1, 366 $.73 $1,348 $342 $308
</ TABLE>

¥ Wth the exception of NHD inventory write-downs, all charges were recorded
in Selling, general and administrative expense. NHD inventory write-downs
were recorded in Hardware cost.

(1) Represents (a) the difference between net hook value and fair value of
assets that were contributed to a joint venture, (b) the book value of
assets that were idled as a result of the MD actions and that were
scrapped and (c) the difference between the net book value and the
apprai sed fair value of test equi pment subject to sale-|easeback
agreements.

(2) Wrkforce reductions that affect approximately 790 enpl oyees (455 direct
manuf acturing and 335 indirect manufacturing) in France. The workforce
reductions are expected to be substantially conpleted by the end of the
first quarter of 2000.

(3) Wite-off of investment in joint venture at the signing of the agreement
with Toshiba Corporation.

(4) Acquisition of minority interest in MCRUS and charges for equi pment
| easehol d cancel lation liabilities and | ease rental payments for idle
equi pment .

(5) Represents (a) the book value of assets that were idled as a result of the
SSD actions and scrapped, (b) write-downs to fair value of equi pnent under
contract for sale and delivery by Decenber 31, 1999, and March 31, 2000,
and (c) the difference between the net hook value and the appraised fair
val ue of equipnent subject to sale-leaseback agreenents.

(6) Wrkforce reductions that affect approximtely 900 enployees (780 direct
manuf acturing and 120 indirect manufacturing) in the United States. There
are 210 terninations remining in the first half of 2000.

(7)  Wite-down to net realizable value of inventory of router and swtch
products ($144 million) and contract cancellation fees ($34 mllion)
related to deterioration in demand for router and switch products.

Change in Estimate

As a result of a change in estimate of the useful life of personal computers
(PCs) fromfive years to three years, the conmpany recognized a charge in the
second quarter of 1999 of $404 nillion ($241 nillion after tax, $.13 per diluted
conmon share). In the second quarter, the conpany wote off the net hook val ue
of PCs that were 3 years or ol der and, therefore, had no remaining useful life.
The remaining book value of the assets will be depreciated over the remaining
new useful life. The net effect on future operations is expected to be ninimnal
as the increased depreciation due to the shorter life will be offset by the

| oner depreciable base attributable to the wite-off of PCs ol der than three
years.



S Research, Devel opnent and Engi neering

Research, devel opment and engineering expense was $5,273 million in 1999, $5,046
mllionin 1998 and $4,877 million in 1997. Expenses for product-rel ated
engineering included in these amounts were $698 million, $580 million and $570
mllion in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

The conpany had expenses of $4,575 nillion in 1999, $4,466 nillion in 1998 and
$4,307 million in 1997 for basic scientific research and the application of
scientific advances to the devel opnent of new and inproved products and their
uses. O these amunts, software-related expenses were $2,036 nillion, $2,086
milion and $2,016 nillion in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Included in the
expense each year are charges for acquired in-process research and devel opnent.
See note D, "Acquisitions/Divestitures" on pages 72 and 73 for further
information about that expense.
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T Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share of common stock.

<TABLE>

<CAPTI O\>

For the year ended Decenber 31 1999 1998 1997

<S> <G <C <G

Nunber of shares on which basic earnings per share is cal cul ated:

iéi ght ed- average shares outstanding during year 1,808,538,346 1,869,005 570 1,966,572, 722
Add- - Increnental shares under stock conpensation plans 59, 344, 849 51, 124,900 55, 297, 162
Add--Increnental shares associated with contingently issuable shares 3,190, 717 -- --

Nunber of shares on which diluted earnings per share is cal cul ated 1,871,073,912  1,920,130,470 2,021, 869, 884

Net incone applicable to comon stockhol ders (nillions) $ 7,692 $ 6,308 $ 6,073

Add--net income applicable to contingently issuable shares (mllions) 11 -- --

Net income on which diluted earnings per share is calculated (nillions) § 7,703 $ 6,308 §$ 6,073

Earnings per share of conmon stock:

Assuning dilution $ 412§ 329§ 3.00

Basi ¢ $ 4.25 § 3.38  § 3.09

</ TABLE>

Stock options to purchase 27,355,056 conmon shares in 1999, 4,124,730 shares in
1998 and 331,666 shares in 1997 were outstanding, but were not included in the
conputation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price of the
options was greater than the average market price of the comon shares and,
therefore, the effect would have been antidilutive. In addition, 5,131,038
restricted stock units in 1998 relating to the conpany's Long Term Performance
Plan were not included in the conputation of diluted earnings per share as their
effect woul d have been antidilutive. Net income applicable to common

stockhol ders excludes preferred stock dividends of $20 million for 1999, 1998
and 1997.

U Rental Expense and Lease Commitnents

Rental expense, including amounts charged to inventories and fixed assets and
excluding amounts previously reserved, was $1,397 nillion in 1999, $1,431
milionin 1998 and $1,280 nillion in 1997. The table bel ow depicts (a) gross
mninumrental commitnents under noncancel abl e |eases, including amounts related
to vacant space associated with infrastructure reduction and restructuring
actions taken through 1993 (previously reserved), and (b) offsetting sublease
income conmitments. These amounts general |y reflect activities related to office
space and manufacturing equi pment.

<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>

Beyond
(Dollars in mllions) 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2004
<S> <C <C <C <C <C <C
Gross rental conmitnents $1,314 $1,143 $ 982 $ 769 $ 469 $1,213
Vacant space 219 168 122 75 41 130
Subl ease i ncome conmitnents 124 91 71 48 34 62

</ TABLE>
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V Stock-Based Conpensation Plans

The conpany applies Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related Interpretations in
accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. A description of the terms of
the conpany’s stock-based conmpensation plans fol | ous:

Long- Term Performance Pl an

Incentive awards are provided to officers and other key enpl oyees under the
terms of the IBM 1999 Long- Term Performance Plan, which was approved by
stockhol ders in April 1999, the IBM 1997 Long- Term Performance Plan, which was
approved by stockhol ders in April 1997, and its predecessor plan, the |BM 1994
Long-Term Performance Plan ("the Plans"). The Plans are adninistered by the
Executive Conpensation and Management Resources Committee of the Board of
Directors. The committee deternines the type and terns of the awards to be
granted, including vesting provisions.

Awards may include stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock,
cash or stock awards, or any conbination thereof. The number of shares that may
be issued under the 1BM 1999 Long- Term Performance Plan is 118.7 mllion, which
was 6.5 percent of the conpany’s outstanding common stock on February 10, 1999.
No shares were issued under this Plan during 1999. There were 33.7 nillion and
68.8 nillion unused shares available to be granted under the 1BM 1997 Long- Term
Performance Plan as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively. As of Decenber
31, 1999, there were no unused shares under the |BM 1994 Long- Term Performance
Plan. There were 4.1 million shares available to be granted under that Plan as
of Decenber 31, 1998.

Wth the exception of stock options, these awards (which are expressed in terns
of shares) are adjusted to fair value at the end of each period and the change
invalueis included in net incone. Awards under the Plans resulted in
conpensation expense of $267.3 nillion, $322.4 mllion and $214.1 nillion in
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

STOCK CPTION GRANTS

Stock options are granted to enpl oyees at an exercise price equal to the fair
market value of the conpany’s stock at the date of grant. CGenerally, options
vest 25 percent per year, are fully vested four years fromthe grant date and
have a termof 10 years. The fol | owing tables summarize option activity under
the Plans during 1999, 1998 and 1997:

<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>
1999 1998 1997
Wd. Avg. Wd. Avg. Wd. Avg.
Exerci se No. of Shares  Exercise No. of Shares  Exercise No. of Shares
Price under Option Price under Option Price under Option

<S> <C <C <C <C <C <C
Bal ance at January 1 $ 36 131, 443, 850 $27 123, 456, 722 $22 122,870, 644
Options granted 115 42,786, 845 53 41,175, 350 36 42,942, 456
Options exercised 28 (23,160, 228) 22 (29, 633, 476) 21 (39,260, 010)
Options cancel ed/ expired 61 (4,933, 944) 36 (3,554, 746) 28 (3,096, 368)
Bal ance at Decenber 31 $ 60 146, 136, 523 $36 131, 443, 850 $27 123, 456, 722
Exercisabl e at Decenber 31 $ 29 51,599, 735 $22 46,191, 636 $19 53,239, 096
</ TABLE>

The shares under option at Decenber 31, 1999, were in the follow ng exercise
price ranges:

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
Options Qutstanding Options Currently Exercisable
Wd. Avg.
Wd. Avg. Remai ni ng Wd. Avg.
No. of Exerci se Contract ual No. of Exerci se

Exercise Price Range Opti ons Price Life (in years) ptions Price



<S>

$10 - 40

$41 - 70

$71 - 100
$101 and over

<G
64, 827, 422
37,007,973
17, 135, 848
27,165, 280

<C
42,694, 829
8,234,965
664, 991
4,950

146, 136, 523

51,599, 735
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| BM Enpl oyees Stock Purchase Plan

The | BM Empl oyees Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) enables substantially all regular
enpl oyees to purchase full or fractional shares of IBM common stock through
payrol | deductions of up to 10 percent of eligible conpensation. The price an
enpl oyee pays is 85 percent of the average market price on the last day of the
applicabl e pay period. The stockhol ders approved the current plan in 1995
Approximately 57.3 mllion, 63.0 mllion and 71.0 nillion reserved unissued
shares were available for purchase under the ESPP at Decenber 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively.

During 1999, 1998 and 1997, enpl oyees purchased 5.7 nillion, 8.0 nillion and 9.4
mllion shares, respectively, all of which were treasury shares, and paid to |BM
$514 million, $415 mllion and $354 nmillion, respectively, for these shares.

Pro Forma Disclosure

In accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, the conpany does not recognize expense
for stock options granted under the Plans or for enployee stock purchases under
the ESPP. SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Conpensation," requires a
conpany to determine the fair market value of all awards of stock-based
conpensation using an option-pricing mdel and to disclose pro forma net incone
and earnings per share as if the resulting stock-based compensation amounts were
recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. The table bel ow presents
these pro form disclosures.

$ 5,985
$ 3.12

$ 3.20

$ 6,073
$ 3.00

$ 3.09

$ 5,866
$ 2.91

$ 2.98

<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>
1999 1998

(Dollars in mllions e e
except per share amounts) As reported Pro form As reported
<S> <G <G <G
Net income applicable to

common shar ehol ders $ 7,692 $ 7,044 $ 6,308
Earnings per share of

comon st ock--assuning dilution $ 4.12 $ 3.78 $ 3.29
Earnings per share of

comon st ock- - basi ¢ $ 4.25 $ 3.89 $ 3.38
</ TABLE>

The pro forma amounts that are disclosed in accordance with SFAS 123 reflect the
portion of the estimted fair value of awards that was earned in 1999, 1998 and
1997.

The conpany used the Bl ack-Schol es model to value the stock options that it
granted in 1999, 1998 and 1997. The assunptions that the conpany used to
estimte the fair value of the options and the weighted-average estimted fair
val ue of an option on the date of grant are as fol | ows:

1999 1998 1997

Term (years)* 5/6 5/6 5/6
Volatility** 27. 3% 26. 4% 23.0%
Risk-free interest rate (zero

coupon U.S. treasury note) 6. 6% 5.1% 6.2%
Di vidend yield 0.4% 0.8% 1.0%
\iéi ght ed- average fair

val ue per option $ 46 $ 18 $ 13

¥ Option termis 5 years for tax incentive options and 6 years for non-tax
incentive options.

¥ To deternmine volatility, the conpany neasured the daily price changes of
the stock over the last 5- and 6-year periods for tax incentive options
and non-tax incentive options, respectively.
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WRetirenent Plans

The conpany and its subsidiaries have defined benefit and defined contribution
retirement plans that cover substantially all regular enployees, and a
suppl enental retirenent plan that covers certain executives.

The changes in the benefit obligations and plan assets of the U S. and material
non-U. S. defined benefit plans for 1999 and 1998 were as fol | ows:

<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>

(Dol lars in mllions)

<S>

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Plan participants’ contributions

Acqui sitions/divestitures, net
Amendnent s

Actuarial (gains) Iosses

Benefits paid fromtrust

Direct benefit paynents

Forei gn exchange i mpact

Plan curtailments/settlements/termnation benefits

Change in plan assets:;

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets

Enpl oyer contribution

Acqui sitions/divestitures, net

Plan participants’ contributions

Benefits paid fromtrust

Forei gn exchange i mpact

Settlements

Fair value of plan assets in excess of
benefit obligation

Unrecogni zed net actuarial gains

Unrecogni zed prior service costs

Unrecogni zed net transition asset

Adj ustment to recognize minimumliability

Net prepaid pension asset recognized in the
Consol i dated Statement of Financial Position

Non-U.S. Plans

$ 18, 846

1,213
29

2
1,331

(683)

(254)
1,155
10

21,841
2,400
452

</ TABLE>
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US Plan

US. regular, full-time and part-time enpl oyees are covered by a noncontributory
plan that is funded by conpany contributions to an irrevocable trust fund, which
is held for the sole benefit of participants.

Effective July 1, 1999, I1BMconverted to a new formla, the Personal Pension
Account (PPA), for determining pension benefits for most of its enployees. Under
the PPA, retirement benefits are credited to each enpl oyee’s cash bal ance
account nonthly based on a percentage of the enployee’s pensionable
conpensation. Enpl oyees who were retirement eligible or within five years of
retirement eligibility with at least one year of service, or who were at |east
forty years of age with at least ten years of service as of June 30, 1999, could
elect to participate in the PPA or to have their service and earnings credit
accrue under the preexisting benefit fornula. Benefits becone vested on the
conpletion of five years of service under either formula.

The nunber of individuals who were receiving benefits at Decenber 31, 1999 and
1998, was 124,175 and 116, 685, respectively.

Non-U. S. Plans

Most subsidiaries and branches outside the U S. have retirenent plans that cover
substantially all regular enployees, under which the conpany deposits funds
under various fiduciary-type arrangenents, purchases annuities under group
contracts or provides reserves. Retirenent benefits are based on years of
service and the enployee’s conpensation, generally during a fixed nunber of
years imediately before retirement. The ranges of assunptions that are used for
the non-U.S. plans reflect the different economic environments within various
countries.

U S. Supplenental Executive Retention Plan

The conpany al so has a non-qualified U'S. Supplemental Executive Retention Plan
(SERP). The SERP, which is unfunded, provides defined pension benefits outside
the IBMRetirement Plan to eligible executives based on average earnings, years
of service and age at retirement. Effective July 1, 1999, the conpany adopted
the Supplenental Executive Retention Plan (which replaces the previous

Suppl enental Executive Retirement Plan). Some participants of the pre-existing
SERP still will be eligible for benefits under that plan, but will not be
eligible for the new plan. At Decenber 31, 1999 and 1998, the projected benefit
obligation was $149 million and $178 million, respectively, and the amounts
included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position were pension
liabilities of $109 million and $81 nillion, respectively.

VIEI GHTED- AVERAGE ASSUMPTI ONS AS OF DECEMBER 31:

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
US Plan
1999 1998 1997
<S> <C <C <C
Discount rate 7. 75% 6.5% 7.0%
Expected return on plan assets 9.5% 9.5% 9.5%
Rate of conpensation increase 6. 0% 5. 0% 5. 0%
COST OF THE DEFINED BENEFI T PLANS:
<CAPTI O\>
US Plan

(Dollars in millions) 1999 1998 1997
<S> <G <C <G
Service cost $ 566 $ 532 $ 397
Interest cost 2,404 2,261 2,215
Expected return on plan assets (3,463) (3,123 (2,907)
Net anortization of unrecognized net actuarial

gains, net transition asset and prior service costs (145) (124) (125)
Settlement (gains)/losses -- -- --
Net periodic pension (benefit) cost--US. Plan

and material non-US. Plans $ (638) $ (454) & (420)

Non-U.S. Plans

(04 <C <G
5-7 4.5-7.5% 4.5-7.5%
-10.5% 6.5-10.0% 6.0-9.5%
6 2.7-6.1% 2.6-6.1%

Non-U.S. Plans

$ 475 $ 399 $ 366
1,282 1,213 1,182
(1,937)  (1,739)  (1,457)

42 21 15
(23) 10 (63)



Total net periodic pension (benefit) cost for all

non-U.S. Plans $ (124) $ (42) $ 50
Cost of defined contribution plans $ 275 $ 258 $ 236 $§ 131 § 90 §$ 64
Cost of conplenentary defined benefits $ 38 $ 34 $ 33

Cost of U S. Supplenental Executive
Retention Plan $ 30 $ 25 $ 20
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Net periodic pension cost is deternmined using the Projected Unit Credit
actuarial nethod.

The effects on the conpany’s results of operations and financial position
frommost changes in the estinmates and assunmptions used to conpute pension
and prepaid pension assets or pension liability is nitigated by the del ayed
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 87, "Enployers’ Accounting for Pensions."
The effects of settlenent gains, curtailnent |osses and early termnations
are recogni zed i mediately. The 1.25 percent increase in the discount rate in
1999 resulted in an actuarial gain of $5,003 million for the U.S plan. The
0.5 percent decrease in the discount rate in 1998 resulted in an actuarial
loss of $2,144 nillion for the U.S. plan.

It is the conpany's practice to fund amounts for pensions sufficient to neet the
mni numrequirenents set forth in applicable enployee benefits laws and | ocal
tax laws. Fromtime to tine, the conpany contributes additional amounts as it
deers appropriate. Liabilities for amunts in excess of these funding levels are
accrued and reported in the conpany’s Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. The assets of the various plans include corporate equities, government
securities, corporate debt securities and real estate.

At Decenber 31, 1999, the material non-US. defined benefit plans in which the
plan assets exceeded the benefit obligation had obligations of $21,168 million
and assets of $27,400 million. The material non-U.S. defined benefit plans in
whi ch the benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of plan assets had
obligations of $602 million and assets of $443 nillion.

At Decenber 31, 1998, the material non-US. defined benefit plans in which the
plan assets exceeded the benefit obligation had obligations of $18,217 million
and assets of $21,736 million. The material non-U.S. defined benefit plans in
whi ch the benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of plan assets had
obligations of $3,831 mllion and assets of $3,558 nmlion.

X Nonpensi on Postretirement Benefits

The conpany and its U S. subsidiaries have defined benefit postretirenment plans
that provide medical, dental and life insurance for retirees and eligible
dependents. Effective July 1, 1999, IBMestablished a "Future Health Account
(FHA) Plan" for enployees who are nore than five years away fromretirenent
eligibility. Enployees who are eligible toretire within five years retained the
benefits under the company’s preexisting retiree health benefits plan. Under
either the FHA or the preexisting plan, there is a maxinumcost to the conpany
for retiree health care. For enployees who retired before January 1, 1992, that
maxi mum wi || becone effective in the year 2001. For all other enployees, the
maximumis effective on retirenent.

The changes in the benefit obligation and plan assets of the U.S. plans for 1999
and 1998 are as fol | ows:

(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 6,457 $ 6,384
Service cost 48 42
Interest cost 424 427
Anendnent s (127) (26)
Actuarial gains (445) (146)
Actuarial |osses 371 272
Benefits paid fromtrust (325) (486)
Direct benefit payments (225) (10)
Benefit obligation at end of year 6,178 6, 457

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at

begi nning of year 123 120
Actual (loss)/gain on plan assets (18) 10
Empl oyer contributions 325 479
Benefits paid, net of enployee

contributions (325) (486)



Benefit obligation in excess

of plan assets (6,073)
Unrecogni zed net actuarial |osses 631
Unrecogni zed prior service costs (948)

Accrued postretirement benefit
liability recognized in the
Consol i dated Statenent
of Financial Position $(6, 390)

(6,334)
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The benefit obligation was deternined by applying the terms of medical, denta
and life insurance plans, including the effects of established maximunms on
covered costs, together with relevant actuarial assunptions. These actuaria
assunptions include a projected healthcare cost trend rate of 6 percent
The net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the U S plan for the years
ended Decenber 31 included the foll owing conponents
(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Service cost $ 48 $ 42 $ 32
Interest cost 424 427 455
Expected return on plan assets (6) (5) (15)
Net amortization of
unrecogni zed net actuaria
| osses and prior service costs (124) (133) (119)
Net periodic postretirenent
benefit cost $ 342 $ 331 $ 353
EI GHTED- AVERAGE ASSUMPTI ONS AS OF DECEMBER 31
Di scount rate 7.75% 6. 5% 7.0%
Expected return
on plan assets 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
The plan assets primarily conprise short-termfixed incone investments
Certain of the company’s non-U S. subsidiaries have simlar plans for retirees
However, nost of the retirees outside the United States are covered by
governnent - sponsored and admi ni stered programs. The obligations and cost of
these prograns are not significant to the conpany
A one- percent age- poi nt change in the assumed heal thcare cost trend rate woul d
have the following effects as of Decenber 31, 1999
(One- Per cent age- (One- Per cent age-
(Dol lars in mllions) Poi nt I ncrease Poi nt Decrease
Effect on total service and
interest cost $7 $ (9
Effect on postretirement benefit
obl i gation $95 $(120)

Y Segment | nformation

| BM uses advanced information technol ogy to provide custonmer solutions. The
conpany operates primarily in a single industry using several segments that
create value by offering a variety of solutions that include, either singularly
or in sone combination, technol ogies, systems, products, services, software and
financi ng.

Organi zational Iy, the company’s major operations conprise three hardware product
segment s- - Technol ogy, Personal Systems and Server; a Gobal Services segnent; a
Software segnent; a Gobal Financing segnent and an Enterprise |nvestnent
segment. The segments are determined based on several factors, including
customer base, homogeneity of products, technol ogy and delivery channels.

The Technol ogy segment produces peripheral equipment for use in general - purpose
conputer systems, including storage and networking devices, advanced function
printers and display devices. In addition, the segment provides conponents such
as semconductors and HDDs for use in the conpany's products and for sale to
original equipment manufacturers (CEM. Major business units include Storage
Systems, Mcroelectronics, Printer Systems and Networking Hardware

The Personal Systems segment produces general - purpose conputer systens,
including some systemand consumer software, that operate applications for use
by one user at a time (personal conputer clients) or as servers, and display
devices. Major brands include the Aptiva home PCs, IntelliStation workstations
Netfinity servers, PC 300 conmercial desktop and ThinkPad nobile systems. These
products are sold directly by the conpany and through reseller and retai
channel s

The Server segment produces powerful multi-purpose conputer systems that operate



many open- net wor k-based applications and are used sinmultaneously by multiple
users. They perform high-vol ume transaction processing and serve data to
personal systems and other end-user devices. The servers are the engines behind
the bul k of electronic business transactions, including e-comerce. Brands
include S/390, AS/400, RS/6000 and NUMA-Q The segment's products are sold
directly by the conpany and through business partner relationships

The A obal Services segnent is the world s largest and nost versatile
information technol ogy services provider, supporting computer hardware and

sof tware products and providing professional services to help customers of al
sizes realize the full value of information technology. The segment provides
val ue through three primary lines of business: Strategic Qutsourcing Services
Busi ness I nnovation Services; and Integrated Technol ogy Services. Strategic

Qut sourcing Services create business val ue through I ong-termstrategic
partnerships with customers by taking on responsibility for their processes and
systems. Business Innovation Services (formerly Systens Integration and

Consul ting) provide business/industry consulting and end-to-end e-business

i mpl ementation of offerings Iike Supply Chain Management, Customer Relationship
Managenent, Enterprise Resource Planning and Business Intelligence
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Integrated Technol ogy Services offer customers a single IT partner to manage

mul ti-vendor IT systems’ conmplexity in today's e-business environment including
traditional offerings |ike Product Support, Business Recovery Services, Site and
Connectivity Services, and Systens Management and Networking Services. Learning
Services supports the three primary |ines of business and hel p customers design
devel op and deploy curricula to educate their enployees. The G obal Services
segment is uniquely suited to integrate the full range of the conpany's and key
industry participants’ capabilities, including hardware, software, services and
research

The Software segment delivers operating systems for the company’s servers and
e-business enabling software (middleware) for IBMand non-1BMplatforns. The
conpany has reorganized its e-business offerings to align with key custoner
opportunity areas--transformation and integration, |everaging information

organi zational effectiveness and managing technology. In addition to its own
devel opment, product and marketing effort, the segment supports nore than 35,000
I ndependent Software Vendors to ensure that the conpany’s software and hardware
offerings are included in those partners’ solutions

The @ obal Financing segment is the world s largest provider of financing
services for information technology (IT). The segnent provides |ease and | oan
financing that enables the conpany’s custoners to acquire conplete IT and
e-business sol utions--hardware, software and services--provided by the conpany
and its business partners. Special focus is placed on the financing needs of
smal | and medi um busi nesses, and the emerging financing needs of NetGen
conpani es. dobal Financing, as a reliable source of capital for the
distribution channel, also provides the conpany’s business partners with
custoni zed comercial financing for inventory, accounts receivable, termloans
and acquisitions, helping themmanage their cash flow invest in infrastructure
and grow their business

The Enterprise Investnents segnent provides industry specific informtion
technol ogy sol utions, supporting the hardware, software and services segnents of
the conpany. The segment devel ops unique products designed to meet specific

mar ket pl ace requirements and to conplement the conpany’'s overall portfolio of
products

Segment revenue and pre-tax incone include transactions between the segments
that are intended to reflect an arms-length transfer at the best price

avail able for conparable external customers. Specifically, semconductors and
disk drives are sourced internally fromthe Technol ogy segment for use in the
manuf acture of the Server segment and Personal Systems segment products

Technol ogy, hardware and software that are used by the G obal Services segment
in outsourcing engagements are sourced internally fromthe Technol ogy, Server
Personal Systems and Software segments. For the internal use of information
technol ogy services, the Gobal Services segnent recovers cost as well as a
reasonabl e fee reflecting the arms-length value of providing the services. The
G obal Services segment enters into armis-length leases at prices equivalent to
market rates with the Gobal Financing segment to facilitate the acquisition of
equi pment used in outsourcing engagenents. All internal transaction prices are
reviewed and reset annually if appropriate

The conpany extensively uses shared-staff concepts to realize econonies of scale
and efficient use of resources. Thus, a significant amount of expense is shared
by all of the company’s segments. This expense represents sal es coverage
marketing and support functions such as Accounting, Treasury, Procurenent

Legal, Human Resources, and Billing and Collections. Were practical, shared
expenses are al located based on neasurable drivers of expense; e.g., Human
Resources costs are allocated on headcount while account coverage expenses are
allocated on a revenue mix that reflects the conpany’s sales commission plan
Vhen a clear and measurable driver cannot be identified, shared expenses are
allocated on a financial basis that is consistent with the conpany’s managenent
system e.g., image advertising is allocated based on the gross profit of the
segments. The unal | ocated corporate expenses arising fromcertain acquisitions
indirect infrastructure reductions, certain intellectual property income and
currency exchange gains and |osses are recorded in net income but are not
allocated to the segments

The following tables reflect the results of the segnents consistent with the
conpany’ s management system These results are not necessarily a depiction that
isinconformty with generally accepted accounting principles; e.g., enployee
retirement plan costs are devel oped using actuarial assunptions on a
country-by-country basis and al located to the segments on headcount. A different
result could be arrived at for any segment using actuarial assunptions that are
unique to the segnent. Performance measurement is based on income before incone



taxes (pre-tax income). These results are used, in part, by managenent, both in
eval uating the performance of, and in allocating resources to, each of the
segnents.



=DOCUMENT 4 PACE 43===z=z=z====

(PD 13- MAR- 2000 18: 45: 47)

=EFW 2004620
<PAGE>
91
notes to consolidated financial statements
International Business Machines Corporation
and Subsi diary Conpani es
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SEGVENT VI EW
<TABLE>
<CAPTI ON>
Har dwar e
Per sonal @ obal Gobal  Enterprise Tota
(Dol lars in mllions) Technol ogy Syst ens Server Services  Software  Financing |nvestnents Segment s
<S> <C <C <C <C <C <o <C <G
1999:
External revenue $ 12,597 $ 15,290 $ 8,718 $ 32,172 $ 12,662 $ 3,219 $ 2,499 $ 87, 157
Internal revenue 3,800 45 326 2,636 767 835 19 8,428
Total revenue $ 16, 397 $ 15,335 $ 9,044 $ 34,808  $ 13,429 $ 4,054 $ 2,518 $ 95,585
Pre-tax income $ 764 $ (557 $ 1,590 $ 4,528 § 2,830 $ 1,286 $ (324) $10,117
Revenue year-to-year change (0.4)% 19. 8% (18.3)% 9.9% 6. 5% 7.5% (0.2)% 5. 1%
Pre-tax income year-
to-year change (20.0)% 43.9% (44.1)% 20. 5% 9.4% 10. 4% 47. 4% 4. 3%
Pre-tax income margin 4. 7% (3.6)% 17.6% 13. 0% 21. 1% 3L 7% (12.9)% 10. 6%
1998:
External revenue $ 11,890 $ 12,776 $ 10, 624 $ 28,916 $ 11,863 $ 2,979 $ 2,468 $ 81,516
Internal revenue 4,578 29 445 2,747 749 792 56 9, 396
Total revenue $ 16, 468 $ 12,805 $ 11,069 $ 31,663 $ 12,612 $ 3,71 $ 2,524 $ 90,912
Pre-tax income $ 955 $ (992) $ 2,842 $ 3,757 $ 2,588 $ 1,165 $ (616) $ 9,699
Revenue year-to-year change (4.4)% (10.8)% (6.0)% 13.5% 6. 6% 5.8% 0.6% 2. 0%
Pre-tax income year-
to-year change (47.1)% (516.1) % (1.9)% 30. 0% 27. 2% 3.0% 32.3% 0. 1%
Pre-tax income margin 5. 8% (7.71)% 25. 7% 11. 9% 20. 5% 30. 9% (24.4) % 10. 7%
1997:
External revenue $ 11,083 $ 14,337 $ 11,286 $ 25166 $ 11,164 $ 2,935 $ 2,438 $ 78,409
Internal revenue 6, 147 20 491 2,737 671 628 70 10, 764
Total revenue $ 17,230 $ 14,357 $ 11,777 $ 27,903 $ 11,835 $ 3,563 $ 2,508 $ 89,173
Pre-tax income $ 1,806 $ (161) $ 2,896 $ 2,800 $ 2,034 $ 1,131 $ (910) $ 9,686
Revenue year-to-year change 0.3% 3.3% (6.9)% 12. 6% (1.5)% (3.3)% 5.0% 3. 0%
Pre-tax inconme year-
to-year change 17.7% (312.8)% (12.1)% 14. 3% (17.5)% (10.2)% (17.4) % (5.7)%
Pre-tax income margin 10. 5% (1.1)% 24. 6% 10. 4% 17. 2% 3L 7% (36.3)% 10. 9%
</ TABLE>
Reconciliations to BV as Reported
(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
REVENUE:
Total reportable segnents $ 95,585 $ 90,912 $ 89,173
Ot her revenues 391 151 99
Elinmnation of interna
revenue (8,428) (9, 396) (10, 764)
Total 1BM Consol i dated $ 87,548 $ 81,667 $ 78,508
(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
PRE- TAX | NCOME:
Total reportable segnents $ 10, 117 $ 9,699 $ 9,686
Elimnation of interna
transactions (145) (162) (377)
Sale of G obal Network 4,057 -- --

1999 actions



Unal | ocated corporate
expenses (67) (497) (282)
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[mmterial ltens
| NVESTMENT |N EQUI TY ALLI ANCES AND EQUI TY ALLI ANCES GAI NS/ LOSSES

The investments in equity alliances and the resulting gains and |osses from
these investnents that are attributable to the segments do not have a
significant effect on the financial results of the segnments.

Segment Assets and Qther Itens

The assets of the hardware segments primarily are inventory and plant, property
and equi pment. The software segment assets mainly are plant, property and

equi pment, and investnent in deferred software devel opment. The G obal Services
segment assets primarily are maintenance inventory and plant, property and

equi pment associated with its strategic outsourcing business.

To acconplish the efficient use of the conpany’s space and equipnent, it usually
i s necessary for several segments to share plant, property and equipment assets.
Vhere assets are shared, Iandlord ownership of the assets is assigned to one
segment and is not allocated to each user segment. This is consistent with the
conpany’ s management systemand is reflected accordingly in the schedul e bel ow.
In those cases, there will not be a precise correlation between segment pre-tax
income and segment assets.

Sinilarly, the depreciation amounts reported by each segment are based on the
assi gned | andl ord ownership and may not be consistent with the anounts that are
included in the segnents’ pre-tax income. The amounts that are included in
pre-tax income reflect occupancy charges fromthe Iandlord segment and are not
specifically identified by the management reporting system

Capital expenditures that are reported by each segment also are in line with the
| andl ord ownership basis of asset assignment.

The G obal Financing segnent amounts below for interest income and interest
expense reflect the interest income and interest expense associated with the
financing business as well as the investment in cash and marketable securities.
The remaining amounts of interest income and interest expense are not discretely
identified to the other segments, but are included as part of an indirect
expense al | ocati on.

MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SEGVENT VI EW

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
Har dwar e
Per sonal d obal Gobal  Enterprise Tot al

(Dollars in mllions) Technol ogy Syst ens Server Services Software  Financing Investnents Segrent s
<S> < < < < < < < <
1999:
Asset s $10, 409 $ 1,372 $ 2,846 $ 2,060 $ 2,527 $39, 686 $ 408 $59, 308
Depreci ation/amortization 2,142 127 191 367 576 2,976 15 6,394
Capital expenditures/

investnent in software 1,834 172 312 249 656 3,217 12 6, 452
Interest inconme -- -- -- -- -- 2,961 -- 2,961
Interest expense -- -- -- -- -- 1,232 -- 1,232
1998:
Assets $11, 251 $ 1,464 $ 2,106 $ 2,236 $ 2,577 $40, 109 $ 363 $60, 106
Depreciation/anmortization 1,207 121 178 322 681 2,768 15 5,292
Capital expenditures/

investnent in software 2,044 156 288 358 424 3,438 19 6, 727
Interest income -- -- -- -- - 2,725 -- 2,725
Interest expense -- -- -- -- -- 1,252 -- 1,252
1997:
Asset s $10, 060 $ 1,629 $ 2,191 $ 1,914 $ 2,642 $35, 444 $ 362 $54,242
Depreci ation/anmorti zation 1,092 112 167 315 1,132 2,170 10 4,998
Capital expenditures/

investnent in software 2,028 195 235 361 515 3,615 16 6, 965
Interest income -- -- -- -- 2,639 -- 2,639
Interest expense -- -- -- -- -- 1,175 -- 1,175

</ TABLE>
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Reconciliations to BV as Reported
(Dol lars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
ASSETS:
Total reportable segnents $ 59, 308 $ 60, 106 $ 54,242
Elimnation of internal
transactions (5,776) (7,519) (6,287)
Unal | ocat ed amount s:
Cash and market abl e
securities 4,563 4,295 6, 062
Notes and accounts
receivabl e 7,004 7,715 7,441
Deferred tax assets 5,428 5,376 4,746
Plant, other property
and equi pment 6, 146 7,706 7,564
Pensi on assets 5, 636 4,836 3,828
O her 5,186 3,585 3,903
Total 1BM Consol i dat ed $ 87,495 $ 86,100 $ 81,499

Revenue by Casses of Similar Products or Services

For the Personal Systems, Server, Software and G obal Financing segments, the
segment data on page 91 represents the revenue contributions fromthe products
that are contained in the segnents and that are basically simlar in nature. The
tabl e bel ow provides external revenue for sinilar classes of products within the
Technol ogy and G obal Services segnments. CEM hardware conprises primrily
revenue fromthe sale of HDD storage files and semconductors. Storage conprises
external ly attached direct access storage devices and tape storage devi ces.

O her technol ogy conprises advanced function printers and networking devi ces.

Consol i dat ed
(Dollars in mllions) 1999 1998 1997
Technol ogy:
CEM $ 7,800 $ 6,756 $ 5,560
Storage 2,389 2,439 2,644
Qther technol ogy 2,408 2,695 2,879
@ obal Services:
Servi ces 27,035 23,730 19,534
Mai nt enance 5,137 5, 186 5,632

Maj or Custoners
No single custonmer represents 10 percent or more of the conpany’s total revenue.
Geogr aphi ¢ Information

Revenue* Long-lived Assets**

United States $37,171  $35,303 $32,663 $19,309 $18,450 $17,802
Japan 10, 411 8,567 9,765 4,710 4,310 3,635
Qther countries 39, 966 37,797 36, 080 10, 259 12, 343 11, 621
Tot al $87,548  $81,667 $78,508 $34,278  $35,103  $33,058

¥ Revenues are attributed to countries based on |ocation of custoner.
** Includes all non-current assets except non-current financial instrunents
and deferred tax assets.
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International Business Machines Corporation
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Fi ve- Year Conparison of Selected Financial Data

<G
$71,940
4,178

1. 76
1.81
572
. 25*

4,744
18.5%

$80, 292

16, 579

9,043
21,629
22,423

Stock Prices**

Hi gh Low
<C <G
$ 99.63* $ 80.88*
132.00 81. 50*
139.19 117.56
123.25 89.00

$ 54.19*% § 47.81*

64. 66* 51. 66*
69. 06* 55. 38*
94. 97+ 58. 41*

<TABLE>
<CAPTI O\>
(Dol lars in mllions except per share amounts)
For the year: 1999 1998 1997 1996
<S> < < <G <G
Revenue $87, 548 $81, 667 $78, 508 $75, 947
Net incone 7,712 6, 328 6,093 5,429

Per share of common stock:

Assuming dilution 4.12 3. 29 3. 00% 2.50%

Basi ¢ 4.25 3.38* 3. 09* 2. 56*
Cash dividends paid on common stock 859 814 763 686

Per share of common stock AT 43 . 3875* . 325*
Investment in plant, rental machines

and other property 5, 959 6, 520 6,793 5,883
Return on stockhol ders’ equity 39. 0% 32. 6% 29. 7% 24. 8%
At end of year:
Total assets $87, 495 $86, 100 $81, 499 $81, 132
Net investment in plant, rental machines

and ot her property 17,590 19, 631 18, 347 17, 407
Working capital 3,577 5,533 6,911 6, 695
Total debt 28, 354 29, 413 26, 926 22,829
Stockhol ders’ equity 20,511 19, 433 19, 816 21,628
</ TABLE>
¥ Adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective May 10, 1999.
Selected Quarterly Data
(Dol lars in mllions except per share anmounts and stock prices)
<TABLE>
<CAPT| ON>

Per Share of Common Stock
Ear ni ngs
Gross Net Assuni ng
Revenue Profit [ ncone Dilution Basic Di vi dends

<S> < <C <C <C <C <C
1999
First quarter $20, 317 $ 7,258 $1,470 $ .78 $ 0.80 $ 1
Second quarter 21,905 8,224 2,391 1.28 1.32 .12
Third quarter 21,144 7,564 1,762 .93 .97 12
Fourth quarter 24,182 8, 883 2,089 1.12 1.16 12
Tot al $87, 548 $31, 929 $7,712 $ 4,12+ $ 4.25 $ 4
1998
First quarter $17,618 $ 6,450 $1, 036 $ .53 $ .54 $ .10%
Second quarter 18, 823 7,146 1,452 . 75* T 1
Third quarter 20, 095 7,467 1,494 78 . 80* 11
Fourth quarter 25,131 9,809 2,346 1. 24* 1.27* C11*
Tot al $81, 667 $30, 872 $6, 328 $ 3.29%+ $ 3.38 $ .43
</ TABLE>

¥ Adjusted to reflect a two-for-one stock split effective May 10, 1999,

+ Earnings Per Share (EPS) in each quarter is conputed using the

wei ght ed- average number of shares outstanding during that quarter while
EPS for the full year is computed using the weighted-average number of
shares outstanding during the year. Thus, the sumof the four quarters’

EPS does not equal the full-year EPS.

¥*  The stock prices reflect the high and low prices for 1BMs common stock on

the New York Stock Exchange composite tape for the last two years.
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| BM St ockhol der Servi ces

Stockhol ders with questions about their accounts shoul d contact:
Equi Serve, First Chicago Trust Division

M| Suite 4688

P.O Box 2530

Jersey Gity, New Jersey 07303-2530

(888) 1BM 6700

Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call
(201) 324-0405.

Stockhol ders can al so reach Equi Serve, First Chicago Trust Division, via the
Internet at: ibnfct@quiserve.com

Hearing-inpaired stockhol ders with access to a tel ecomunications device (TDD)
can conmunicate directly with Equi Serve, First Chicago Trust Division, by
calling (800) 490-1493. Stockhol ders residing outside the United States, Canada
and Puerto Rico should call (201) 222-4489.

[BMon the Internet

Topics featured in this Annual Report can be found via the |1BM home page on the
Internet (http://waw.ibmcon). Financial results, news on |BM products, services
and other activities can also be found via that address. Stockhol ders of record
can receive online account information and answers to frequently asked questions
regarding stockhol der accounts via the internet (http://ww.ibmconlinvestor).

Stockhol der of record can al so consent to receive future |BM Annual Reports and
Proxy Statements online through the Internet at this site.

| BM I nvestor Services Program

The Investor Services Programbrochure outlines a number of services provided
for IBMstockhol ders and potential IBMinvestors, including the reinvestment of
dividends, direct purchase and the deposit of IBMstock certificates for

saf ekeeping. Call (888) 421-8860 for a copy of the brochure. Investors residing
outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (201) 324-0405.

Annual Meeting

The IBM Annual Meeting of Stockhol ders will be held on Tuesday, April 25, 2000,
at 10 a.m (EST) in the Grand Ballroomat the Renaissance O eveland Hotel in
Oeveland, hio.

| BM St ock

I BM common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, on other exchanges in
the United States and around the world.

St ockhol der Communi cat i ons

Stockhol ders in the United States and Canada can get quarterly financial

results, listen to a summary of M. CGerstner’s Annual Meeting remarks and hear
voting results fromthe meeting by calling (800) IBM 7800. Callers can also
request printed copies of the information via mail or fax. Stockhol ders residing
outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call (402) 573-9861.

Investors with other requests my wite to:
| BM St ockhol der Rel ations

| BM Cor poration

New Orchard Road

Arnonk, New York 10504

Literature for |BM Stockhol ders

The following literature on IBMis available without charge from Equi Serve,
First Chicago Trust Division

Mail Suite 4688

P.O Box 2530

Jersey City, New Jersey 07303-2530

(888) 1BM 6700

Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico should call
(201) 324-0405.



The Form 10-K Annual Report and Form 10-Q Quarterly Reports to the SEC provide
additional information on IBMs business. The 10-K is issued in Mrch; 10-Q
reports are released in My, August and Novenber.

An audio cassette recording of the 1999 Annual Report will be available for
sight-inpaired stockhol ders in June.

IBM Credit Corporation’s Annual Report is available in April.

"I BM Environment and Well-Being: Progress Report" reports on IBMs
environmental, safety and energy prograns.

"Val uing Diversity: An Ongoing Commitment" conmunicates to the conpany’s entire
conmuni ty of enployees, custoners, stockhol ders, vendors, suppliers, business
partners and enmpl oyment applicants the inportance |IBM places on the diversity of
the conpany’s workpl ace and market pl ace.

Ceneral Information

For answers to general questions about IBMfromwithin the continental United
States, call (800) IBM4YQU. Fromoutside the United States, call (770)
863-1234.

Corporate Offices

International Business Machines Corporation
New Orchard Road

Armonk, New York 10504

(914) 499- 1900

[RECYCLE LOG] The I BM Annual Report is printed on recycled paper and is
recycl abl e.

*al phaVorks, Aptiva, AS/400, DB2, IBM IntelliStation, Mcrodrive, MCRUS, M)
Series, Netfinity, Network Station, NUMA-Q RS/ 6000, S/390, Shark, ThinkPad,
Vi aVoi ce, \ebConnection, Wb Sphere and WorkPad are trademarks of International
Busi ness Machines Corporation or its wholly owned subsidiaries. CATIAis a
trademark of Dassault Systemes SA. Intel is a trademark of Intel Corporation.
Linux is a trademark of Linus Torvalds. Domino, Lotus and Lotus Notes are
trademarks of Lotus Devel opnent Corporation. Tivoli is a trademark of Tivoli
Systems, Inc. Java is a trademark of Sun Mcrosystems, Inc. Technicolor is a
trademark of Technicolor, Inc. UNXis a trademark in the United States and
other countries licensed exclusively through The Qpen Goup Linited. Cther
conpany product and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

Printed in U.S.

(607-0501- 05
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Board of Directors

Cathl een Bl ack
Presi dent
Hear st Magazi nes

Kenneth |. Chenaul t
Presi dent and

Chief Qperating Cfficer
American Express Conpany

Juergen Dormann
Chai rman of the
Board of Managenent Aventis S.A

Louis V. Gerstner, Jr.
Chai rman of the Board and
Chief Executive Oficer

| BM

Nanner| O. Keohane
Presi dent
Duke University

Charles F. Knight

Chai rman and

Chi ef Executive Officer
Enerson Electric Co.

M noru Maki hara
Chai rman
Mt subi shi Corporation

Lucio A Noto
Vice Chairman
Exxon Mbil Corporation

John B. Slaughter

President Eneritus

Cccidental Col | ege, and

Mel bo Professor of

Leadership in Education
University of Southern California

Alex Trotman

Retired Chairmn and
Chi ef Executive Officer
Ford Mtor Conpany

Lodewi jk C. van Vachem
Chairman of the

Super vi sory Board

Royal Dutch Petrol eum Conpany

Charles M Vest
Presi dent
Massachusetts Institute of Technol ogy

Seni or Managenent
CORPORATE  HEADQUARTERS

Louis V. Gerstner, Jr.
Chai rman of the Board and
Chief Executive OFficer

J. Thonmas Bouchard
Senior Vice President
Human Resour ces

J. Bruce Harreld
Seni or Vice President
Strategy

Stephen M Vérd, Jr.



Vice President
Busi ness Transformation and
Chief Information Officer

John R Joyce
Seni or Vice President and
Chief Financial Oficer

Joseph C. Lane

General Manager

| BM @ obal Financing and
President, IBM Credit Corp.

Mark Loughridge
Vice President and Controller

David B. Kalis
Vice President
Comuni cat i ons

Jon C. Iwata
Vice President
Corporate Communi cations

Abby F. Kohnst amm
Senior Vice President
Mar ket i ng

Lawence R Ricciardi
Seni or Vice President and
Ceneral Counsel

Christopher G Caine
Vice President
Covernnental Prograns

Mchael A Candido, Jr.
Vice President and
Assi stant General Counsel

Daniel E. O Donnel |
Vice President, Assistant
General Counsel and Secretary

TECHNOLOGY AND MANUFACTURI NG GROUP

Ni cholas M Donofrio
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

Paul M Horn
Seni or Vice President
Resear ch

John E Kelly, Il
General Manager
[ BM M croel ectronics Division

Genn H Larnerd
General Manager
Storage Technol ogy Division

WIliamE. MCracken
Ceneral Manager
[BM Printing Systems

| BM GLOBAL SERVI CES

Douglas T. Hix
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

Mchael E Daniels
Ceneral Manager
| BM G obal Services, Asia Pacific

Mark W Elliott
General Manager
| BM G obal Services, Americas

Dani el R Col by
General Manager
Industrial and Communications Sectors

Hans- U rich Maerki
Ceneral Manager
| BM G obal Services, ENVEA



Virginia M Ronetty
General Manager
Strategy and Marketing

SALES AND Di STRI BUTI ON GROUP

WIliamA Etherington
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

David R Carl ucci
General Manager
| BM Aneri cas

Jerry Cole
General Manager
Financial Services Sector

Kakutaro Kitashiro
General Manager
| BM Asia Pacific

Henry W K. Chow
General Manager
I BM Greater China

J. Mchael Lawrie
General Manager
| BM Eur ope/ M ddl e East/Africa

Erwin Staudt
General Manager
| BM Ger many

Dougl as L. Maine
General Manager
i bm com

Peter T. Row ey
Ceneral Manager
G obal M dmarket Business

ENTERPRI SE SYSTEMS GROUP

Sanuel J. Palnisano
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

Rodney C. Adkins
Ceneral Manager
\iéb Servers

Robert W Mffat, Jr.
Vice President

Fi nance, Planning
and Qperations

Linda S. Sanford
General Manager
Storage Subsystems Division

Susan M Vi t ney
Vice President
Server Marketing

[rving Wadawsky- Ber ger
Vice President
Technol ogy and Strategy

WlliamM Zeitler
General Manager
Enterprise Servers

PERSONAL SYSTEMS GROUP

David M Thomas
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

Jonathan J. Judge
Ceneral Manager
Sales and Service

Ral ph F. Martino
Ceneral Manager
Marketing and Strategy

SOFTWARE GROUP



John M Thonpson
Senior Vice President and Goup Executive

Jan H. Lindel ow

Presi dent and

Chi ef Executive Oficer
Tivoli Systens, Inc.

Steven A Mlls
General Manager
Software Goup Solutions and Strategy

Mark F. Bregman
General Manager
Pervasi ve Conputing

Mchael D. Zisman
Vice President
Knowl edge Managenent

Afred W Zollar

Presi dent and

Chief Executive Oficer
Lot us Devel oprent Corp.
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EXHBIT |1
PARENTS AND SUBSI DI ARI ES
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1999
<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
STATE OR COUNTRY OF PERCENTAGE OF
OF | NCORPORATI ON OR  VIOTI NG SECURI TI ES OMED
CRGANI ZATI ON BY I TS | MEDI ATE PARENT
<S> < <G
Regi strant:
International Business Machines Corporation...... New Yor k
Subsi di ari es:
[BM Credit Corporation................cooovvuvnss Del awar e 100
Tivoli Systems Inc. .........ocovviiriiiiiinnn. Del awar e 100
| BM World Trade Corporation...................... Del awar e 100
| BM Asia Pacific Service Corporation........... Japan 100
| BM Central and Eastern Europe/ M ddl e East/
Africa, InC. ..o Del awar e 100
| BM Chi na/ Hong Kong Corporation................ Del awar e 100
| BM Pl ans Management Corporation............... New York 88( A)
| BMWorld Trade Asia Corporation............... Del awar e 100
WIC Insurance Corporation, Ltd. ............... Ber nuda 100
[BMArgentina, S A ..o Argentina 100(A)
[BMAustralia Ltd. .........ccoviviiiiinat, Australia 100
| BM Bahamas Ltd. ..., Bahanmas 100
[BMde Bolivia, SSA ... Bolivia 100
| BM Brasil-Industria, Maquinas e Servicos
Ltda ..o Brazi| 100(A)
| BM Foreign Sales Corporation.................. Bar bados 100
General Business Machines Corp. ............... British V.1, 10
| BM Canada Credit Services Conpany............. Canada 100
| BM Canada Limted--1BM Canada Linitee......... Canada 100
| BM China Conpany Linited...................... Chi na 100
[BMde Chile, SAC ..., Chile 100( A)
[BMde Colombia, SA ..., Col onbi a 90(A)
[BMMddle East FZE................cccoviint, United Arab Emirates 100
| BM Mddl e East Dubai Airport Free Zone FZE.... United Arab Emirates 100
[BMdel Ecuador, CA ...........ccooiviiiinat. Ecuador 100
| BM G obal Services India Pvt. Ltd. ........... I ndi a 90(B)
[BMIndia Ltd. .......ocoviii i, India 99
[BMJapan, Ltd. ... Japan 100
IBMKorea, Inc. ........ooovvvviiiiiiiinnnnnn, Korea (Sout h) 100
Mesiniaga Berhad......................... Mal aysi a 6
Sunway Computer Services Sdn. Bhd. ............ Mal aysi a 20

Arrendadora de Tecnol ogia e Informatica, S A

Credito. . .o Mexi co 86( A)
Financiera de Tecnologia e Informatica S.A de
C. A, Sociedad Financiera del Qhjecto

Limtado Filial..........coocooiiiiiiinn, Mexi co 100( A)
Gupo IBMMexico, SA deCV. ..., Mexi co 100( Q)
[BMde Mexico, SA ..o Mexi co 100( Q)

</ Tabl &>
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<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
STATE OR COUNTRY OF PERCENTAGE OF
OF | NOORPORATION OR VOTI NG SECURI TI ES OMNED
ORGANI ZATI ON BY I TS | MVEDI ATE PARENT
<S> <G <C
[BM New Zealand Ltd. ..................coviit, New Zeal and 100
BMdel Peru, SSA ... Peru 100
| BM World Trade Asia-Pacific Corp.............. Phi | i ppi nes 98(Q)
| BM Phi | i ppi nes, Incorporated.................. Phi |'i ppi nes 100( C
[BMRomania Srl........coooviiiiiiiiiinns, Romani a 100
| BM Tai wan Conpany Limted..................... Tai wan 100(C)
Thai Systems Corporation Ltd. ................. Thai | and 100
| BM Thailand Company Ltd. ..................... Thai | and 100( C)
| BM del Uruguay, S A ..., Uruguay 100
IBM de Venezuela, S A ............cviiiiat. Venezuel a 100
[ BM Vietnam Conpany..........cooviviininnnnnn, Vi et nam 100
| BM Central Europe & Russia Inc. .............. Del awar e 100
| BM Cesterreich International e Bueromaschinen
Gesell'schaft mb.H ....................L. Austria 100
IBA (International Belarussia Alliance)........ Bel arus Republic 45
International Business Machines of Belgium
S A Bel gi um 100( A)
| BM Bot swana (PTY) Limted..................... Bot swana 100
[BMBulgaria Ltd. ..........cooviiiiiiiinns, Bul garia 100
|BM Croatia Ltd./ IBMHvatska d.o.o. ......... Croatia 100
| BM Ceska Republika spol. s.r.o. .............. Czech Republic 100
| BM Eesti Osauhing (IBMEstonia Qu)............ Estoni a 100
Conpagnie IBMFrance, SSA .................... France 100( C
| BM Eurocoordination..................cooiint, France --(D
| BM Europe Mddle East Africa.................. France 100(A)
IBMBeteiligungs GrbH.......................... Ger many 100
| BM Deutschland GoH....................oooiit. Cer many 82(A)
I nternational Business Machines Corporation
Magyarorszagi Kft. .............. ...l Hungary 100
[ BM International Treasury Services Company.... lreland --(E
[BMIreland Ltd. ..., Ireland 100
[BMItalia S p.A o Italy 96( A)
| BM Hel I as Infornation Handling Systens
S A G eece 100( A)
[BMIsrael Ltd. ......coooviiiiiiiins, I srael 100( A)
Conpanhia | BM Portuguesa, S.A .............. Port ugal 100
I BM (I nternational Business Machines) Turk
Ltd, Sirketi....oooovioiii i Turkey 98( A
| BM South Africa Goup Ltd. ................. South Africa 100
| BM East Africa Linited........................ Kenya 67(A)
Sabiedriba ar irobezotu IBMLatvija............ Latvia 100
QuanTech s.a.l. ... Lebanon 15
[BMLietuva. ..o Li t huani a 100
EDESA S, A Luxenbour g 1
I BM G obal Holdings BV. ..........oooviiiit, Net her | ands 100
| BM International Centre for Asset Management
NV Net her | ands 100
[BM Nederland NV, ..., Net her | ands 100
[BMPolska Sp. 2.0.0. ...ovvvviiiiiiiiinnns, Pol and 100
International Business Machines AIS............ Nor way 60( A)
| BM East Europe/Asia.............cooviviiiint. Russi a 100

</ Tabl e>
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<Tabl e>
<Capti on>
STATE OR COUNTRY OF
OF | NCORPORATI ON OR
ORGANI ZATI ON
<S> <C
International Technol ogy
| BM Sl ovensko spol.S.1.0. .......oovvivvvnnnn, Slovak Republic
IBM Slovenija d.o.0. «.ooovviiniiiii, Sloveni a
International Business Machines, S A ......... Spain
BM Nordic Aktiebolag........................ Sueden
[ BM Danmark AIS.... ... Denmar k
Oy International Business Machines AB........ Fi nl and
| BM Svenska Aktiebolag....................... Sweden
| BM International Centre for Asset Managenent
AG Swi t zer| and
| BM ( Schwei z) - - 1 BM ( Sui sse)--1BM ( Svi zzera)- -
[BM (Switzerland)...........coooiiiiiinns, Swi t zerl and
[BMNorth Africa..........coovviiviiiinnnnt, Tuni sia
| BM United KingdomHoldings Ltd. .............. United Kingdom
International Business Machines Limited........ United Kingdom
| BM Zi nbabwe (Private) Ltd. ................... Zi nhabwe
</ Tabl e>

(A) Remmining percentage owned by another whol |y-owned | BM conpany.

(B) Mnor percentage held by another |BM sharehol der.

(C Mnor percentage held by other |BM sharehol ders, subject to repurchase

option.

(D) IBM Eurocoordination i s owned approxi mtely 14% each by subsidiaries |ocated

PERCENTAGE OF

VOTI NG SECURI TI ES OMNED
BY I TS | MVEDI ATE PARENT

in France, Germany, Italy and the United Kingdom and approxi mately 4% each

by subsidiaries located in Austria, Belgium Denmark, Finland, Ireland,
Net herlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and Switzerland and by four

other minority sharehol ders.

(E) 1BM France and IBMFinland each own 16.6%and | BM Denmark and | BM

Switzerland each own 33.3%of IBM International Treasury Services Conpany.

100
100
100(A)
100
100
100
100

100

100
99(A)
100
100
100



=END DOCUMENT 5============z=== (PD 13- MAR- 2000 18: 45: 47)

=EFW 2004620

</ TEXT>
</ DOCUMENT>



=EFW 2004620

<DOCUVENT>

<TYPE> EX-23

<DESCRI PTI ON> Exhibit 23
<TEXT>



=DOCUMENT 6 PAGE 1============ (PD 13- MAR- 2000 18; 45: 47)
=EFW 2004620
<Page>

EXHBIT I
CONSENT OF | NDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

¢ hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 2-77235, 33-29022, 33-33458, 33-34406, 33-53777,
33-60225, 33-60227, 33-60237, 33-60815, 33-01411, 333-09055, 333-23315,
333-31305, 333-41813, 333-44981, 333-48435, 333-81157, 333-87757, 333-87856,
333-87925 and 333-30424) and the Prospectuses constituting part of the
Regi stration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 33-50537, 33-65119, 33-65119(1)
333-03763, 333-21073, 333-27669, 333-40669 and 333-70521) of International
Busi ness Machines Corporation of our report dated January 19, 2000 appearing on
page 51 of the 1999 Annual Report to Stockhol ders which is incorporated in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. W al so consent to the incorporation by reference of
our report dated January 19, 2000 on the Financial Statement Schedul es, which
appear on page 10 of this Form 10-K

I'sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Pri cewat er houseCoopers LLP

New York, New York

March 13, 2000
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Exhibit 24

POVER OF ATTORNEY OF |BM DI RECTOR

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. CGerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Valter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and |awful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all anmendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmay lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

/sl Cathleen P. Black

Director

CATHLEEN P. BLACK
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. CGerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Valter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and |awful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all anmendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmay lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHEREQF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

/sl Kenneth |. Chenaul t

Director

KENNETH |, CHENAULT
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

I's/ Juergen Dormann

Director

JUERGEN DORVANN
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce,
Lawence R Ricciardi, Wlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnell
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmay |awfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000.

/sl Louis V. CGerstner, Jr.

LOU' S V. GERSTNER, JR
Chai rman of the Board
and Chief Executive OFficer
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

/sl Nanner| Q Keohane

Director

NANNERL O KECHANE
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \Mshington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all anmendments thereto, and any and all other
docunents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirmng all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

I's/ Charles F. Knight

Director

CHARLES F. KNIGHT
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C.,
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce,
Lawence R Ricciardi, Wlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnell
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmay |awfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000.

/sl Mnoru Makihara

Director

M NCRU MAKI HARA
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \Mshington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all anmendments thereto, and any and all other
docunents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirmng all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

Isl Lucio A Noto

Director

LUC O A NOTO
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

I's/ John B. Slaughter

Director

JOHN B.  SLAUGHTER
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which
will filewth the Securities and Exchange Commission, \shington, D.C
under the provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form
10-K, hereby constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce
Lawence R Ricciardi, Vlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnel
and Andrew Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of themwith full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his
or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K
Annual Report and any and all amendments thereto, and any and all other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Conmi ssion, hereby granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them full power and authority to do and performany and all acts and
things requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully
to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirning all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of
themmy lawfully do or cause to he done by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

/sl Aex Trotmn

Director

ALEX TROTMAN
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KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned Director of
International Business Machines Corporation, a New York corporation, which will
file with the Securities and Exchange Conmission, Washington, D.C., under the
provisions of the Securities Law, an Annual Report for 1999 on Form 10-K, hereby
constitutes and appoints Louis V. Gerstner, Jr., John R Joyce, Lawrence R
Ricciardi, Wlter S. Berman, Mark Loughridge, Daniel E. O Donnell and Andrew
Bonzani his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of themwith
full power to act without the others, for himor her and in his or her name
place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign said 10-K Annual Report and
any and al | anmendnents thereto, and any and al | other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby granting unto
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them full power and authority
to do and performany and all acts and things requisite and necessary to be done
in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she
mght or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirning all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of themmay lawfully do or cause to be done
by virtue hereof

IN WTNESS WHERECF, the undersigned has executed this Power of Attorney
this 29th day of February 2000

I's/ Lodewijk C van \achem

Director

LODEW JK C. van WACHEM
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<ARTICLE> 5
<LEGEND>
TH'S SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMVARY FI NANCI AL | NFORMATI ON EXTRACTED FROM | BM
OORPORATI ON' S FI NANCI AL STATEMENTS FOR THE TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
AND |'S QUALIFIED IN I TS ENTI RETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FI NANCI AL STATENENTS.

</ LEGEND>

<MULTI PLI ER> 1, 000, 000
<TABLE>

<S>

<PERI OD- TYPE>

<G
12-M3S

<F| SCAL- YEAR- END> DEC- 31- 1999
<PERI OD- END> DEC- 31- 1999
<CASH> 5, 043
<SECURI TI ES> 788
<RECEI VABLES> 20,039
<ALLOMNCES> 0
<| NVENTCRY> 4,868
<CURRENT- ASSETS> 43, 155
<PP&E> 39, 616
<DEPREC! ATl ON> 22,026
<TOTAL- ASSETS> 87,495
<CURRENT- LI ABI LI TI ES> 39,578
<BONDS> 0
<PREFERRED- MANDATCRY> 0
<PREFERRED> 247
<COWON> 11,762
<OTHER- SE> 8,502
<TOTAL- LI ABI LI TY- AND- EQUI TY> 87,495
<SALES> 37,041
<TOTAL- REVENUES> 87,548
<CCS> 27,071
<TOTAL- COSTS> 55, 619
<OTHER- EXPENSES> 20,002
<LOSS- PROVI S| ON> 0
<| NTEREST- EXPENSE> 727
<| NCOVE- PRETAX> 11, 757
<| NCOVE- TAX> 4,045
<| NCOVE- CONTI NUI NG 7,712
<Dl SCONTI NUED> 0
<EXTRAGCRDI NARY> 0
<CHANGES> 0
<NET- | NCOVE> 7,712
<EPS- BAS| & 4,25
<EPS- DI LUTED> 4,12

</ TABLE>
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